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Mission 
STATEMENT 

With God’s guidance, we will efficiently manage the 
company to fulfill our obligations to our customers, 

shareholders, employees, contractors and the community 
at large, with an attitude of service and a commitment to 

truth, fairness and the building of goodwill.



Shaped by TRUTH,
Committed to FAIRNESS,

Driven to SERVE.
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Notice 
of 
ANNUAL 
GENERAL 
MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN 
that the 60th Annual General 
Meeting of Jamaica Broilers 
Group Limited will be held 
at the Company’s registered 
office at Content, McCook’s Pen, 
Saint Catherine on Wednesday, 
October 24, 2018 at 1:30pm to 
transact the following business:

1.   To receive the Audited Accounts for the year ended 
April 28, 2018, together with the reports of the Directors 
and Auditors thereon.

      The Company is asked to consider and if thought fit, 
pass the following resolution:

 Resolution No. 1

      “That the Audited Accounts for the year ended April 
28, 2018, together with the reports of the Directors and 
Auditors thereon, be and are hereby adopted.”

2.   To elect Directors.

 The Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with 
Regulation 89 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation 
are Mr. Stephen Levy, Mr. Gregory Shirley, Dr. Claudette 
Cooke and Dr. Trevor Dewdney, who, being eligible for 
re-election, offer themselves for re-election. 

 The Company is asked to consider, and if thought fit, 
pass the following resolutions:

 Resolution No. 2

 “That the Directors, retiring by rotation, be re-elected 
by a single resolution.”

 Resolution No. 3

 “That Mr. Stephen Levy, Mr. Gregory Shirley, Dr. 
Claudette Cooke and Dr. Trevor Dewdney who are 
the Directors retiring by rotation in accordance with 
Regulation 89 of the Articles of Incorporation, be and 
are hereby re-elected as Directors of the Company.”

3.   To ratify interim dividends. 

The Company is asked to consider, and if thought fit, 
pass the following resolution:

       Resolution No. 4

      “That the interim dividend of 17 cents paid on November 
3, 2017 and of 17 cents paid on April 26, 2018, be and 
are hereby ratified and declared final for the financial 
year ended April 28, 2018.”
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 4. To approve the remuneration of the Directors.

     The Company is asked to consider, and if thought fit, pass the 
following resolution:

       Resolution No. 5

       “That the amount shown in the Audited Accounts of the Company 
for the year ended April 28, 2018 as fees of the Directors for their 
services as Directors, be and is hereby approved.”

 

5. To appoint Auditors and to authorize the Directors to fix the 
remuneration of the Auditors.

     The Company is asked to consider, and if thought fit, pass the 
following resolution:

       Resolution No. 6

       ”That the remuneration of the Auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
who have signified their willingness to continue in office, be such 
as may be agreed between the Directors of the Company and 
the Auditors.”

Dated the 24th day of July, 2018

By order of the Board

PETER A. DePASS
Company Secretary
Registered Office
Content, McCook’s Pen
St. Catherine 

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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NOTE:

A member entitled to attend and vote 
at the meeting may appoint a proxy, 
who need not also be a member, to 
attend and so on a poll, vote on his/
her behalf. A suitable form of proxy 
is enclosed. Forms of Proxy must be 
lodged at the registered office of the 
Company at Content, McCook’s Pen, 
Saint Catherine or with the Registrar 
of the Company, PwC Corporate 
Services (Jamaica) Limited 13th 
Floor, Scotiabank Centre, Cnr. Duke & 
Port Royal Streets, Kingston not less 
than 48 hours before the time of the 
meeting. The Form of Proxy should 
bear stamp duty of $100.00. The 
stamp duty may be paid by adhesive 
stamps which are to be cancelled by 
the person signing the Proxy.

A Corporate shareholder may (instead 
of appointing a proxy) appoint a 
representative in accordance with 
Regulation 74 of the Company’s 
Articles of Incorporation. A copy 
of Regulation 74 is set out on the 
enclosed detachable proxy form.



CHAIRMAN &
PRESIDENT’S
OVERVIEW

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The 2017/2018 fiscal was a good year for 
the Jamaica Broilers Group. Strategic 
decisions were made towards greater 
efficiency and increased capacity both 

locally and overseas. The results achieved were 
in line with our expectations as we knew we 
would face some headwinds going into the year. 
The actions taken over the course of the year, 
however, were critical to ensuring the company’s 
viability. We invested in our digital platforms 
across the Group to support the growth we have 
been experiencing and enhance the development 
of our businesses as we move forward.  

Decisions made with regard to capacity have 
strengthened the company, bolstered brand 
presence in the Jamaican market and positioned 
both the Best Dressed Chicken and Hi-Pro as 
significant voices in the advocacy for Jamaica’s 
food security. We continue to be a significant 
player in the Haitian marketplace. As our company 
continues to grow in the US and become a more 
prominent player in that very large market, we 
expect to see more opportunities for growth. 

Our revenues were $48.3 billion representing a 
9% increase over the prior year with gross margin 
of 26.6% versus 26.7% for the prior year. Total 
assets of $31.0 billion, is 13% above the prior 
year while profit before taxation of $2.7 billion, is 
10% below the prior year. We closed the year with 
net profits of $2.0 billion, which is 11% below the 
prior year. Earnings per share is $1.64 compared 
to $1.86 in the prior year. Stockholders’ equity of 
$12.7 billion, is a 12% reduction from prior year 
with return on assets of 6.9% and return on equity 
of 15%,  a 1.8 % and 1.5 % reduction respectively. 
The effective tax rate was 24.0% (23.6% - prior 
year).
 
The results achieved, despite challenges faced, 
can be attributed to focused and decisive 
management undergirded by the support 
and guidance of the Board of Directors who 
individually and collectively comprise a wealth of 
experience and expertise. We are certain that the 
strategies employed by our teams have secured 
our place as an industry leader and will continue 
to yield significant results over the long term.

Chairman &
President’s
OVERVIEW 
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Christopher Levy  
President and CEO

THE ECONOMY

The Jamaican economy continued to thrive 
despite the impact of flooding which adversely 
affected the agri-industry. This along with other 
negative impacts, did have a disappointing effect 
on Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth. The 
inflation rate remained stable within the range of 
4-6% as forecasted by the Bank of Jamaica (BOJ). 

We are delighted  to acknowledge that Jamaica is 
100% self-sufficient in the production of chicken 
meat and eggs. In fact, our small farmers are 
the lifeline of Jamaica’s agri-industry with 60% 
of Jamaica’s poultry needs being met by small 
farmers. We must acknowledge the significance 
of their contribution to the economic landscape, 
job creation and provision of healthy food 
sources.  We consider it a mark of our citizenship 
towards the local agri-industry and wider Jamaica, 
to continue to mobilise resources in support of 
the development of small farmers as we seek to 
“Grow Jamaica”. 

60 TOGETHER

As we move into our 60th year of operation, 
we celebrate the milestone with a great sense 
of gratitude and humility. The Jamaica Broilers 
Group continues to be the largest producer of 
protein products in Jamaica and the Caribbean.  
We continue to expand our capacity and broaden 
our market reach annually. We see job creation 
as one of the major contributions we make to 
nation building and we also continue to ignite the 
entrepreneurial spirit of our nation as we support 
our local farmers. 

The Lord has been faithful to us over these six 
decades and we remain confident that with 
God’s guidance, we will continue to deliver to our 
customers, consumers, shareholders, employees, 
contractors and stakeholders for many years to 
come.

Robert Levy 
Chairman

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018
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MR. ROBERT E. LEVY, CD
Hon. LL.D, MA
Chairman

MR. CHRISTOPHER E. LEVY
MBA
Executive Director

DR. CLAUDETTE D. COOKE
Ed.D, CMT, CPC, CCRC
Executive Director

With over 62 years in the life insurance 
industry, Danny Williams has amassed 
an incomparable wealth of knowledge 
and experience to create a most 
enviable and distinguished career. The 
impetus towards the development of 
the insurance industry and his country 
stems from as far back as 1953, and over 
the years, he has built a reputation as 
an entrepreneur, a philanthropist and a 
dedicated professional with an appetite 
for challenges. He was the founder 
and President of Life of Jamaica (now 
Sagicor Group Jamaica) before becoming 
Chairman of the Board and currently 
serves as Director Emeritus. He is the 
immediate Past Chairman of the Jamaica 
Broilers Group.

Christopher Levy has been 
highly regarded as an astute 
corporate leader in the 
industry.  Since assuming 
the role of President and 
CEO in 2009, the scope of 
his leadership has grown 
exponentially with the 
acquisition of significant 
assets in the Group’s US 
Operation. Under his 
leadership the Company 
expanded the business to 
Haiti. This  decision has 
been rewarding both in 
terms of social responsibility 
to the Caribbean community 
as well as for the overall 
growth of the Group, as the 
Haiti Operation has crossed 
the threshold of profitability. 
Christopher Levy is 
passionate about nation 
building and he has built on 
the Company’s tradition of 
far-reaching philanthropic 
pursuits,  and support 
for education, sports, the 
indigent, community and 
social empowerment.

Robert Levy has served the 
Company for 59 of its 60 years. 
He has operated at nearly 
every level, resulting in a 
comprehensive understanding 
and knowledge of the business. 
In 1994 he was appointed as 
joint CEO, followed by his 
advancement to President 
and CEO in 2001. Robert Levy 
penned the Company’s Mission 
Statement many years ago and 
to this day, Jamaica Broilers 
is known for operating “With 
God’s guidance”, towards “the 
building of goodwill”. Since 
2009 Robert Levy has served in 
his current position as Chairman 
of the Board of Directors. 
His longstanding, passionate 
commitment has made him 
a distinguished expert in the 
agriculture industry.

Claudette Cooke joined the 
Jamaica Broilers Group in 
1994 as the Group Public 
Relations Executive. A year 
later, she was appointed 
to her current role as 
Vice President for Human 
Resource Development 
and Public Relations. She 
is focused on maintaining 
the Group’s organisational 
effectiveness, as well as 
continually improving the 
Company’s work environs and 
output quality both locally 
and overseas. She has also 
significantly invested in the 
preservation of the Group’s 
reputation as a Christ-
centered, employee-friendly 
and charitable company. Dr. 
Cooke is an advocate for the 
support and mentorship of 
Christian women in leadership 
and has conceptualised the 
annual Signature Woman 
Leadership Connection, 
an event geared towards 
fostering the fellowship and 
development of Jamaica’s 
female leaders. 

THE HON. R. DANVERS WILLIAMS, OJ, CD
Hon. LL.D, JP, CLU
Director Emeritus

Board of 
DIRECTORS 
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MR. IAN S. PARSARD
MBA (Hons.), ACCA
Executive Director

DR. TREVOR D. DEWDNEY, OD
DVM 
Non-Executive Director 

SENATOR AUBYN R. HILL
MBA
Non-Executive Director

Omar Azan has been 
one of Jamaica’s leading 
manufacturers and exporters 
of furniture for over 20 
years. An avid believer in 
service above self, he has 
become a strong voice for 
the manufacturing industry. 
His efforts have resulted in 
the achievement of such 
noteworthy milestones as the 
removal of the 2% Customs 
User Fee on raw materials 
and capital equipment; the 
provision of free factory 
space for start-ups and 
expanding entities; and the 
awarding of contracts to local 
printers during his tenure 
as President of the Jamaica 
Manufacturers Association. 
He has successfully influenced 
business growth and market 
captaincy in Jamaica for 
over 25 years. Omar Azan 
is invaluable in ensuring 
effective management of 
operating budgets and 
analysing market dynamics. 

Aubyn Hill has over 35 years 
of working experience in the 
private sector, specifically in 
banking and finance and has 
conducted business in more than 
85 countries. During his 21 years 
as a banker, his performance has 
resulted in several quantifiable 
successes, including leadership 
of the management team 
responsible for the turnaround of 
the National Commercial Bank 
in only 19 months. Aubyn Hill 
founded Corporate Strategies 
Limited, a management 
consultancy firm, where he 
currently serves as the CEO. 
Aubyn Hill was appointed to the 
Senate in 2016 and subsequently 
elected as its Deputy President. 
The Prime Minister of Jamaica 
appointed Senator Hill as Special 
Investment Ambassador and 
Envoy to India and in 2017 as 
the Executive Director of the 
Economic Growth Council (EGC).

Trevor Dewdney is a well 
respected Veterinary Consultant 
who has been affiliated with 
the Jamaica Broilers Group 
since 1971, and appointed as 
a Director in 2002. A devoted 
farming practitioner, he has used 
his nearly 50 years of experience 
to serve in various capacities 
across the Agricultural Industry, 
including Vice President of the 
Jamaica Agricultural Society 
(JAS) and Director of the National 
Development Bank, where he 
served for almost 10 years. 
His passion for sustainable 
growth and development of the 
industry has earned him national 
recognition, as he was awarded 
the National Honour of the Order 
of Distinction for Excellence in 
Agriculture. 

MR. OMAR L. F. AZAN, JP
Non-Executive Director

Ian Parsard joined the Jamaica 
Broilers Group in 1989 as 
a Senior Systems Analyst. 
He progressed through a 
number of senior management 
positions including his 
appointment as Vice 
President, where he has held 
responsibility for Accounting, 
Finance, Energy, Operations 
and Corporate Planning at 
varying intervals during his 
tenure with the Company. 
In 2012 he was appointed 
as Senior Vice President 
and currently manages the 
portfolio for Finance and 
Planning. In his current 
capacity, he has worked in 
tandem with the CEO to 
secure significant capital 
assets for the Company, 
which have led to increased 
profitability and growth of the 
Group. Mr. Parsard also serves 
on the Board of Directors of 
the Mustard Seed Agricultural 
Program and Pan Jam 
Investments Limited.

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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MR. GREGORY B. SHIRLEY
MBA
Non-Executive Director

MR. EDWARD Z. BARBER
B.Acy, CPA
Non-Executive Director 

MR. STEPHEN E. LEVY 
MBA
Executive Director

With a career spanning nearly 
35 years, Gregory Shirley has 
garnered extensive experience 
in the fields of corporate and 
strategic planning, process 
improvement and performance 
measurement. He started his 
professional career as the 
Manager of Human Resource 
Planning and Development 
for a major overseas utility 
company and later joined KPMG. 
There, he garnered experience 
in diverse business advisory 
assignments within banking and 
finance, government, utilities, 
manufacturing and service sectors. 
He has been one of the main 
architects in change management 
and the development and 
implementation of performance 
and reward management 
programmes within the public and 
private sectors of Jamaica. He is 
a highly sought after consultant in 
his field.

Stephen Levy’s relationship 
with the Group commenced 
in 2003 with his appointment 
as Operations Manager for 
Content Agricultural Products. 
He has since occupied several 
management positions and 
since May 2013, he has served 
as President of Wincorp 
International Inc., a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Jamaica Broilers 
Group located in Medley, Florida. 
There he has spearheaded the 
reorganization, development 
and profitable growth of the 
Company’s United States-based 
operations. His leadership 
and management skills have 
helped the Group to develop 
strong relationships with key 
stakeholders including customers, 
suppliers, government and non-
government organizations.

MR. BRUCE F. BOWEN
BBA (Hons.), Hon. LL.D
Non-Executive Director 

Bruce Bowen is known in the 
Caribbean for his 26 year 
career with Scotiabank in their 
International Banking Division. 
Over his 5 years as CEO of 
Scotia Group Jamaica (2008-
2013), he established the Group 
as the most profitable publicly 
listed company in Jamaica, 
growing market share in retail 
mortgage and commercial 
lending, life insurance sales and 
mutual funds (unit trust) under his 
management. He has a notably 
successful track record for 
leading large, complex financial 
service companies throughout 
diverse international markets. As 
a respected leader and trusted 
advisor across the Caribbean, he 
has participated in a number of 
national initiatives, private sector 
associations and charitable 
organisations.

Edward Barber carries 
nearly 30 years of local and 
international experience in real 
estate, finance, development 
and acquisitions. His areas 
of specialization include 
strategic planning, capital 
procurement, investment 
and the development and 
implementation of real 
estate solutions. In 1997 he 
launched the company CRE 
Services, a private real estate 
consulting firm that specializes 
in capital placement and asset 
management. While being 
an astute businessman, he is 
also an active philanthropist, 
as he serves as a Director of 
the Global Orphan Project, 
a global orphan care and 
orphan prevention ministry that 
partners with local churches and 
organizations to provide family-
based assistance to orphaned 
and abandoned children.
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The Directors present their annual report with the Financial Statements for the year ended April 28, 2018.

The Directors are recommending that the interim dividend of 17 cents paid on November 3, 2017 and 17 cents paid on April 
26, 2018, be ratified and declared final for the financial year ended April 28, 2018 by the shareholders in general meeting, as 
the Directors do not propose to declare any further dividend(s) from the audited profits realised during the financial year ended 
April 28, 2018. 

The Directors retiring in accordance with Regulation 89 of the Articles of Incorporation are Mr. Stephen Levy, Mr. Gregory 
Shirley, Dr. Claudette Cooke and Dr. Trevor Dewdney all of whom are eligible for re-election.

AUDITORS 

PricewaterhouseCoopers will continue in office as Auditors in accordance with the provisions of Section 154(2) of the 
Companies Act. 

Dated this 24th day of July, 2018 

PETER A. DePASS
Company Secretary
Registered Office
Content, McCook’s Pen, St. Catherine 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

TURNOVER 

The Group’s turnover for the year amounted to $48,280,867,000 as
compared with $44,444,248,000 for the previous year.

PROFIT, DIVIDENDS AND APPROPRIATIONS 

                                                                                                                    
                                                                                              $’000
Net profit attributable to stockholders                          1,961,380        
Re-measurements of pension assets / obligations        (242,775)
Profits brought forward from previous years      12,504,998    
  
  
To give an amount of                                                          14,223,603                                                                                   
   
  
Interim Dividends                 (407,754)   
   
 
Thereby leaving profits to be carried forward 
as Retained Earnings of                                                   $13,815,849  
  
              

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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Executive
TEAM
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MR. IAN S. PARSARD
MBA (Hons.), ACCA

Group Senior Vice President
Finance & Corporate Planning

MR. CHRISTOPHER E. LEVY 
MBA

Group President & 
Chief Executive Officer
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DR. CLAUDETTE D. COOKE
Ed.D, CMT, CPC, CCRC

Group Vice President
Human Resource Development 
& Public Relations

MR. LENNOX D. CHANNER (JR.)
FCCA, MSc

Group Vice President
Accounting



The Company is committed to maintaining 
high standards of corporate governance and 
recognizes that it is a key contributor to its long-
term success and that of its subsidiaries (the 
Group). The delivery of exemplary governance 
consistent with international best practices is 
central to the Company’s strategic objectives.

The members of the Board understand 
their duty of care to the Company and its 
stakeholders and exercise their fiduciary 
responsibilities with transparency and 

integrity and the Company believes that the Board 
has the right mix of skills, experience, independence 
and knowledge to enable it to discharge these 
responsibilities successfully.

The Group’s Corporate Governance Manual is 
guided by the governance standards set out in the 
Private Sector Organisation of Jamaica (PSOJ) Code 
of Corporate Governance 2nd Edition, published 
in 2015. The Board considers that its governance 
practices are generally consistent and compliant with 
all applicable legislation, regulations, standards and 
codes and aligns its corporate governance practices 
in keeping with the Group’s Corporate Governance 
Manual and the core values of the Group.

COMMITMENT TO SHAREHOLDERS

The Group is proud of the way in which it conducts 
business and is committed to continuing to uphold 
the highest levels of corporate transparency, social 
responsibility and compliance in all its transactions 
and interactions.

The Company ensures that all shareholders are 
provided with adequate and timely information 
on the Company’s activities and performance.  
Shareholders are encouraged and able to engage 
the Board and management at the Company’s 
Annual General Meetings.

The Minutes of the Annual General Meeting are 
made available to shareholders for review at the 
meeting.  Shareholders may also request a copy of 
the Minutes of the Annual General Meeting through 
the Company’s website. 

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at April 28, 2018, the Board comprised eight non-
executive directors (including the Chairman) and 
four executive directors (the Group President & Chief 
Executive Officer, Senior Vice President Finance 
and Corporate Planning, the Vice President Human 
Resources and Public Relations and the President US 
Operations). The names and summary biographies 
of the directors, including details of other material 
directorships, are on pages 8 - 10 and on the 
Company’s website at www.jamaicabroilersgroup.
com. Executive and non-executive directors are 
required to seek the approval of the Board before 
accepting additional directorships and must 
confirm that no conflict of interest arises from 
the appointment and provide assurance that any 
additional appointment will not affect their ability to 
perform their duties. 

While all the directors are equally accountable for 
the proper stewardship of the Company’s affairs, 
the non-executive directors understand that they 
have a specific responsibility to ensure that business 
strategies and policies are fully ventilated and 
critically assessed and considered in Board meetings. 

BOARD OVERSIGHT

Board members and attendance at meetings: 

BOARD MEETINGS

Mr. Omar Azan 8/10

Mr. Edward Barber 9/10

Mr. Bruce Bowen    10/10

Dr. Claudette Cooke 8/10

Dr. Trevor Dewdney  10/10

Mr. Aubyn Hill     7/10

Mr. Robert Levy    10/10

Mr. Christopher Levy 10/10

Mr. Stephen Levy 7/10

Mr. Ian Parsard   9/10

Mr. Gregory Shirley   10/10

The  Hon. R. D. Williams 10/10

Corporate
GOVERNANCE
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The Board is scheduled to meet once monthly. 
However, special meetings are convened if urgent 
matters arise between the scheduled meetings. 
The Board met in regular and special sessions 10 
times during the year to consider matters relevant 
to the operation and performance of the Group. 
Without exception, whenever needed during the 
year, directors have demonstrated their ability and 
willingness to provide any additional time required.  

During the year, the Board fulfilled several of its key 
functions, including: 

• Reviewing and approving the Company’s 2017-
2018 operational plans and budgets;

• Approving capital expenditure;
• Reviewing and approving credit facilities;
• Monitoring executive management 

performance in the implementation and 
achievement of strategic and business 
objectives and financial performance of the 
Company and its shareholders; and

• Consideration and approval of interim dividend 
payments to shareholders.

The Board is responsible for providing leadership 
through oversight and guidance whilst setting 
the strategic direction and delivering value to its 
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board is 
also responsible for ensuring that, as a collective 
body, it has the appropriate skills, knowledge and 
experience to perform its role effectively. The Board 
considers that its members possess the requisite 
skillsets and knowledge in diverse areas relevant 
to the business of the Company.  These include 
banking, corporate finance, insurance, human 
resources, agro-industry, animal health, marketing, 
corporate governance and general management. 
The Board is not involved in the Group’s day-to-day 
operation but has delegated to management the 
power to make decisions on operational matters 
within an agreed framework. The Company has put 
in place directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
in respect of legal actions against its directors; this 
insurance cover does not extend to fraudulent or 
dishonest behaviour.

DIRECTORS TRAINING

During the year the Directors of the Company 
received training in Corporate Governance, 
Director’s Duties and the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
(JSE) Corporate Governance Index. The training 
was conducted by Mrs. Suzanne Ffolkes-Goldson, 
Attorney-at-Law and Senior Lecturer, Faculty of Law, 
University of the West Indies and a member of the 
PSOJ Corporate Governance Committee.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Board is satisfied that the directors have the 
appropriate competencies to meet the challenges 
faced by the Group. Each year at the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board recommends and the 
shareholders elect directors in accordance with Article 
89 of the Company’s Articles of Incorporation. The 
Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for 
the nomination and selection of new directors.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board, through its Committees, has reviewed 
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
practices and systems of internal control for the 
year ended April 28, 2018. This review involved 
consideration of the internal audit and risk 
management functions including operational risk, 
regulatory risk and compliance. The Chairman of 
the Audit Committee, reports to the Board on all 
significant issues considered by the Committee. 

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group’s Internal Audit function is an independent 
function which reports directly to the Board through 
the Audit Committee. Currently, KPMG carries out 
part of the internal audit functions of the Group. The 
scope of the internal audit function encompasses 
the following activities:

• Reviewing and ensuring the annual internal 
audit plan is designed to assist in attaining the 
required objectives;

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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• Reviewing financial reporting and disclosure 
controls and advising management on their 
representations and assertions regarding these 
controls;

• Reviewing means of safeguarding the Group’s 
assets;

• Coordinating with the external auditors and 
reviewing the Group’s relationship with the 
external auditors including independence and 
management’s response to any major external 
audit recommendations;

• Participating in the planning and performance 
of audits of mergers, acquisitions and 
divestitures;

• Reviewing guidelines for ethical business 
conduct and the process for ensuring 
compliance; and

• Periodically reviewing and making 
recommendations concerning procedures for 
receipt, retention and treatment of complaints 
about accounting and auditing matters.

EXTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Audit Committee annually reviews the 
appointment of the Group’s external auditors. 
Currently, the auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(PWC). The Board, on the recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, is satisfied with the effectiveness 
of the external auditors and agreed to recommend 
to the shareholders the re-appointment of PWC for 
a further period of one year. 

The fees paid to the external auditors in the financial 
year are included in the audited financial statements.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

In keeping with international best practices, the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Manual makes 
provision for the manner in which members of the 
Board should handle conflicts of interest. A director 
has a duty to avoid, as far as possible, activities that 
could create conflicts of interest or the appearance 
of conflicts of interest and must disclose to the Board 
any matter that may result, or has already resulted, 
in a conflict of interest. Where a conflict of interest 
arises, directors have a responsibility to declare their 
interest and remove themselves from the relevant 
Board or Committee meetings without deliberating 
or voting on the proposal or transaction.

INFORMATION AND REPORTS

Prior to and at each regular meeting of the Board, 
the Directors receive detailed financial and 
operational reports to allow them to effectively 
review and assess the performance of the Group’s 
business. Board papers are usually issued six days 
prior to meetings and Committee papers are usually 
issued five days prior. In an effort to reduce the 
costs and the environmental impact of printing 
and distributing Board papers, and to improve the 
efficiency of the process, the Company enables each 
director to receive Board papers by way of a secure 
tablet. 

At each Board meeting, the President and Chief 
Executive Officer (Managing Director) presents 
report on all aspects of the Group’s business and a 
report on the Group’s financial performance is also 
received. From time to time, members of the senior 
management team provide the Board with detailed 
presentations on the Group’s major activities.

REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration continues to be set at 
levels that would attract and retain persons with 
the required skill and experience. For the executive 
directors, a significant portion of the compensation 
package is variable and dependent on the Group’s 
performance during the year. During the year the 
Board’s compensation committee, comprising three 
non-executive directors met to review executive 
compensation. An Executive Director was invited to 
attend. The Committee, together with input from 
the Board, will focus on ensuring that the Company’s 
compensation policies are competitive and remain 
aligned to best practice.

For non-executive directors, the level of 
remuneration generally reflects the experience and 
level of responsibilities undertaken. The approved 
remuneration provides for the payment of a retainer 
for non-executive directors and a fee for each Board 
and Committee meeting attended. 

The total fees paid fell within the amounts approved 
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held 
on October 17, 2017. 

Corporate 
GOVERNANCE  continued
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COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

Mr. Aubyn Hill - Chairman 3/4

Mr. Omar Azan 4/4

Dr. Trevor Dewdney 4/4

Mr. Gregory Shirley 4/4

Mr. Robert Levy (ex officio) 4/4

BOARD EVALUATION

The Directors undertook an evaluation of the Board’s 
performance during the 2017-2018 financial year. 
The results of the evaluation were discussed and 
analysed by the Board and suggestions made for 
improvements in Board performance.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board appoints members to committees of the 
Board with the objective of ensuring an optimal 
mix of skill, experience and competence. The 
Board has delegated specific duties to three Board 
Committees, each of which operates within specific 
Terms of Reference, as outlined in the Company’s 
Corporate Governance Manual that define the 
respective roles and responsibilities. 

The Committees assist the Board in its oversight 
role. Subsequent to each Committee meeting, 
the minutes are included in the Board papers for 
the review of all Board members. Round robin 
resolutions approved by the Committees are also 
included in the Board papers. 

Members’ attendance at Board Committee meetings 
during the past year is set out below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Members and attendance at meetings:

The Board has determined that each member of 
the Audit Committee is independent, and that the 
membership meets the requirements of the JSE 
and the recommendations of the PSOJ’s Code 
on Corporate Governance. During the year, the 
President and Chief Executive Officer (Managing 
Director), the Vice President, Accounting, the Chief 
Internal Auditor and the external auditors normally 

attend and report at Audit Committee meetings. 
Other senior managers are invited from time to time 
to present reports and discuss issues of importance. 

The Audit Committee met four times during the year 
and focused on the effectiveness of internal controls, 
compliance, assurance and internal audit functions. 
Responsibilities discharged during the year, included 
the following:

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

• Reviewing significant accounting and reporting 
issues, considering any changes to accounting 
standards, and understanding their impact on 
the financial statements;

• Ensuring that the Group’s quarterly and annual 
financial statements and quarterly releases 
represent accurate, clear and balanced 
assessments of the Group’s financial position 
and prospects.

INTERNAL CONTROL

• Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness 
of the risk management and internal control 
systems, including information technology 
security and control;

• Review of risk management and internal controls 
over financial and operational reporting, and 
obtaining reports on significant findings and 
recommendations together with management’s 
responses.

INTERNAL AUDIT

• Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal audit function. 

FRAUD PREVENTION

• Receiving and considering reports on significant 
frauds, forgeries and other irregularities in 
respect of investigations undertaken.

EXTERNAL AUDIT

• Reviewing the external auditors’ audit scope 
and approach;

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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• Monitoring and reviewing the objectivity, 
effectiveness and independence of the external 
auditors; approving their scope of work, reports 
and fee proposals for audit services.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Members and attendance at meetings:

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Members and attendance at meetings:

The Committee met twice during the year and 
considered the following matters: -

• Review and Analysis of JSE Corporate 
Governance Index;

• Director’s Training in Corporate Governance, 
Director Duties and Responsibilities and the 
JSE, Corporate Governance Index;

• Review and Analysis of the Board Evaluation 
Exercise.

COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

Mr. Gregory Shirley – Chairman 1/1

Dr. Trevor Dewdney 1/1

Mr. Aubyn Hill   1/1

COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

Mr. Gregory Shirley – Chairman 2/2

Mr. Omar Azan 2/2

Mr. Aubyn Hill 2/2

Dr. Trevor Dewdney 2/2

GREGORY SHIRLEY
Chairman 

Corporate Governance Committee

Corporate 
GOVERNANCE  continued
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2018
Financial
HIGHLIGHTS
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PRE-TAX PROFITS  – J$M INVESTMENT IN PROPERTY PLANT &
EQUIPMENT – J$M

83
7.

8

74
9.

3

11
31

.9

16
56

.9

33
5.

6

81
0.

4 10
23

.2

14
24

.7

10
69

.8

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

20
15

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
16

20
17

20
18

PRE-TAX PROFITS AS % OF NET SALES

6.
2 6.

7

3.
54.

1

7.
1

6.
3

4.
7

4.
4 4.
5

5.
5

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

20
15

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
16

20
17

20
18

27
66

.7

29
65

.1

10
73

.1

10
03

.7

15
97

.2

13
42

.8

11
14

.8

11
72

.7 15
61

.9

26
66

.8

0

500

1000

1500

2000

20
15

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
16

20
17

20
18

19
68

.6

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

21
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Management 
Discussion & 
ANALYSIS

We give thanks to the Lord as 2017-2018 was another rewarding 
operational year for the Group. We performed well across our 
three (3) operations and saw growth in all our Divisions.
  

The Jamaica Broilers Group maintains a unique position in the market place as 
our business, builds businesses. We continue to support farmers in Jamaica, 
Haiti and the USA, offering products, advice and practical support that are 
typically out of reach for small operations. Our mission statement declares a 
commitment to an attitude of service and the building of goodwill among our 
stakeholders, and our management team has embraced this wholeheartedly 
in their executions. 

The following Operational Highlights outline the details of our public 
campaigns, new products and other successful endeavours undertaken by 
the various Divisions throughout the year. 
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THE BEST DRESSED CHICKEN (BDC)
DIVISION

The Best Dressed Chicken Division performed 
particularly well over the course of the fiscal 
year. The Division experienced record sales 
in December 2017 with 4,462,482 million 

kilograms of chicken products sold. Overall, there was a 
5% increase in chicken sales year-over-year with a 30% 
increase in exports. The management team took the 
strategic decision to conduct ABC costings which led 
to the removal of nuisance products. This allowed for 
significant narrowing of the revenue gap. 

Our further processed line of products experienced 
growth of 26% year-over-year with frankfurter sales 
being the main contributor with an increase of 66%. 
BDC has carved quite a niche with our youngest brand, 
Hamilton’s Smokehouse (HSH) which saw growth of 9% 
over the fiscal. Local restaurants continued to demand 
HSH products for inclusion in their menus while for 
the first time, Wendy’s - an international Quick Service 
Restaurant (QSR) - included HSH Black Forrest Ham in 
their Christmas sandwich offering.  

Our marketing team took a new approach to their two 
major promotional campaigns this year by utilizing the 
Trend Media platform in The BDC Summer and Christmas 
promotions. The platform facilitated consumers sending 
text message entries to the system resulting in 636,976 
entries and 29,000 winners. This generated 120,000 
unique contacts which has given the brand a direct line 
to their customers, increased brand loyalty, the ability 
to track product movement and the ability to assess the 
effectiveness of campaigns in real time.  

OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

JAMAICA OPERATIONS

The Jamaica Operations of the Group continued to 
make a significant impact on the market through its  Best 
Dressed Chicken and Hi-Pro divisions. The management 
teams have done well at hitting targets, staying focused 
and being efficient in their efforts. 

CONLEY N. SALMON
President - Jamaica Operations 

JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP
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The synergy of the brands also became a 
significant focal point for the team. The decision 
was taken to mount the “Made with 100% Best 
Dressed Chicken” campaign to promote the use 
of our flagship product as the main ingredient in 
our Reggae Jammin’ Chicken frankfurters. 

The marketing team closed out the fiscal with a 
magnificent showing at Expo Jamaica 2018 under 
the theme “Advancing Breakthroughs”. The booth 
was a joint effort by the Best Dressed Chicken 
and Hi-Pro teams and demonstrated the vertical 
integration of the business through its sub-theme 
“From Farm to Fork”. 

Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued

JOHN CARBERRY
General Manager 
Processing Facilities & Energy
BEST DRESSED CHICKEN

ALLEN CHAMBERS
Vice President 
Poultry Operations
BEST DRESSED CHICKEN

MICHAEL JONES
Director  
Sales & Marketing
BEST DRESSED CHICKEN
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Team Best Dressed Chicken and Team Hi-Pro at Expo Jamaica 2018.
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BDC PRODUCTION - LIVE 

HATCHERY OPERATIONS 

The BDC Hatchery Operations have 
continued the modernization drive 
over the course of 2017/2018. The 
Hatchery had uninterrupted hatching 

egg supplies from our local and overseas 
breeder operations- International Poultry 
Breeders (IPB). Hatchability continues to 
improve, achieving unprecedented levels 
in the region. With both the White Marl and 
Cumberland facilities, the hatchery fully 
satisfied the increase demands for day old 
chicks to its two major customers - BDC Field 
Operations Contract Farming Programme 
and Hi-Pro Farm Supplies that distributes to 
independent farmers.

Supplying the best quality baby chicks remains 
the focus of the hard working Hatchery team 
and was the impetus for achieving its first ISO 
9001 certification. 

FIELD & LIVEHAUL OPERATIONS 

In 2017/2018, the Field Operations saw 
significant improvements in its main 
performance efficiency categories. Feed 
conversions were in line with the top 5% of 
Agristats (USA Benchmarking Companies) 
growing similar size birds. 

The Operation again met all the requirements 
to achieve ISO 9001 and Animal Welfare 
certification further strengthening our Quality 
Management System. Improving our daily 
operational procedures and production 
standards remain high priority. Renewed 
emphasis on biosecurity and animal welfare 
remain two of the main drivers for the live 
production areas of the operation. Overall 
success this year was achieved by the hard 
working live operations team, working 
synergistically with the BDC contract farmers. 
Monthly awards to Farmers and their workers 
proved to be a motivational tool that helped to 
drive the performances achieved. 

 

HEALTH SERVICES AND LABORATORY

As a support arm of Live Production, the Health 
Services and Laboratory continues to re-equip, 
re-train and re-focus to efficiently/effectively 
support our internal operations. In 2017/2018, 
with new advancement in diagnostic 
technology, the laboratory upgraded and 
automated critical analytical equipment. 

The Live Production team remains fully 
motivated to set new efficiency standards in 
the Poultry Industry within the region, through 
best practices and continuous training. 

Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued
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HI-PRO DIVISION

The Hi-Pro Division performed 
exceptionally this year. Under the theme 
“Grow with Hi-Pro”, we continued to 
highlight the importance of agriculture to 

the growth of our economy and underscore the 
role played by our local farmers. As a result, we 
saw record Feed production (volumes) and net 
margins in the 2017-18 fiscal year, with strong 
performances realized in the broiler, layer and 
cattle segments. 

The poultry sector remained buoyant, with broiler 
farmers producing 30% of broiler meat consumed 
locally. Over 100,000 broiler farmers, who are 
serviced by our technical teams in the field, create 
this output. Although a success, our farmers 
faced intermittent periods of wet weather and in 
some cases heavy flooding that resulted in major 
losses for broiler chicken farmers. We were able to 
provide some relief to farmers through the many 
promotional events held in farm stores, at which 
baby chicks were a much sought-after prize item. 

Similarly, table egg farmers achieved record 
production with near 190 Million eggs produced 
since the start of the 2018 calendar year, with 
an average flock size of over 800,000 laying 
hens- an all-time high. Hi-Pro also introduced 
poultry farmers to the Barred Rock and Buff Rock 
hens- birds that are ideal for both meat and egg 
production. The hens were well received and 
being more along the lines of the traditional 
backyard hen, this was a nostalgic gesture for 
many of our farmers. 

DAYNE PATTERSON
Business Development
Manager
HI-PRO

TRICIA JACKSON
Store Operations 
Manager
HI-PRO
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Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued

Poultry farmers also benefited from the import of 
Turkey PouIts in June of 2017. This allowed our 
local farmers to produce turkey meat in time for 
the Christmas season, a meat that is normally only 
available as an imported product. In preparation 
for the turkey crop, Hi-Pro formulated a premium 
turkey ration that greatly impressed farmers, as 
birds attained above average weights throughout 
the growing period. 

We continue to see steady growth in the cattle 
segment, driven by increased milk production 
and improvements to cattle nutrition, husbandry 
and pasture management techniques. Notably, 
the Hi-Pro introduced “Total Mixed Ration” Jay-
Lor TMR machines are now gaining traction in 
the industry, with a number of dairy and beef 
cattle farms implementing this technology. As 
the sole Jay-Lor distributors in Jamaica, we aim 
to provide our farmers with first world technology 
to maximize milk or meat production for cattle 
farmers through improved nutrition. 

In August 2017, Hi-Pro welcomed the installation 
of a new Pellet Mill which increased the 
production capacity of the Best Dressed Feed 
Mill to 1000 tonnes per day. Our customers 
welcomed this addition to the Mill superstructure 

as it enabled the smooth production and delivery 
of animal feeds all year round. With an order fill-
ratio of over 99% per day and improved delivery 
experience, our new pellet mill is a representation 
of our commitment to enhancing customer 
service at all levels of the organization. 

It is through this commitment to service that Hi-Pro 
has developed its marketing activities to ensure 
that customers receive the best quality products, 
technical support and superior customer service 
that keeps the division true to the core. 

The Pellet Mill was commissioned on the same 
day that Hi-Pro presented the Hi-Pro Christmas 
Countdown Grand Prize of a 2018 Hyundai 
Tucson to Mrs. Marva Gurthrie, a broiler farmer 
based in St. Ann. 

The 2018 Rewards Promotion followed, and for 
the first time ever, there was a monthly prize 
of $200,000 in farm store vouchers included in 
the prize package. The 2018 rewards promotion 
followed with prizes amounting $200,000 
monthly and a grand prize of a 2018 Hyundai 
Creta. Farmers eagerly anticipated the exciting 
road shows that were held at dealer locations. 
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Then Minister of Industry, Commerce, Agriculture and Fisheries, 
the Honourable Karl Samuda (2nd right), symbolically commissioned into service 
the new US$2 million pellet mill at the Best Dressed Feed Mill in Freetown, St. 

Catherine on December 14, 2017. Others (from left) are: 
then General Operations Manager at the facility, John Carberry; 

Group President and CEO, Christopher Levy; Chairman, Robert Levy; 
and President-Jamaica Operations, Conley Salmon.
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HI-PRO FARM SUPPLIES 

The Product Launch hosted on the first day of the 2017 Denbigh Agricultural Show 
heralded the expansion of the Supercentre’s Pharmaceutical offering as Hi-Pro became 
the exclusive distributor for Ectoline, the newest technology in screw worm treatment 
and prevention. This product has proven to be extremely popular amongst farmers and 

veterinarians for its fast acting and preventative properties. 

In addition, Hi-Pro established new partnership with Zoetis, the largest Animal Health Company in 
the world for the sale/merchandising of their large animal product portfolio. 

While the product offering is consistently being improved and refined, the staff were made to 
undergo similar treatment with an emphasis on Customer Service training, so as to consistently 
improve upon the level of service offered to customers. 

Hi-Pro’s 2017 Dealer Awards were a source of excitement for many of our Dealers and Staff. A 
number of new dealers were recognized for their achievements throughout the year, in particular 
Mr. Maurice Kildare who was the recipient of over eight different awards and cemented his position 
as the top feed dealer for 2017 by winning the award for Overall Best Performance. For the first 
time at the awards, the Hi-Pro Sales and technical teams were also recognized for their outstanding 
performance.
 

Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued

Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued
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Stilt-walkers showcase Hi-Pro’s new line of products at 
the product launch held at Denbigh.
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STEPHEN E. LEVY, MBA
President  - US Operations 

JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP

For the year in review 2017-2018, the US 
Operations experienced another remarkable 
year in profitability, growth, market diversification 
and presence. Notwithstanding some difficulties 

brought about by the unforeseen shortage in the 
availability of genetics stocks and the consequential 
shortage of eggs available for trading, the budgetary 
parameters were adequately met through the concerted 
focus on cost containment and the maximization of 
efficiencies within the operations. 

As a part of our logistical and long-term strategic new 
market access, an additional hatchery was acquired 
for the specific purpose of servicing East Coast USA 
and Canada. Additionally, in keeping with the desired 
increased market reach, trade diversification and staff 
wellbeing, North Georgia and jointly Wincorp Trading 
with Consolidated Freight & Shipping moved into two 
new 30,000 sq. ft. facilities. This has added significantly 
to our brand image, customers’ acceptance, and staff 
and contractors’ motivation. 

Our corporate commitments and outreach involvements 
continue to be encouraged, supported and coordinated 
at the executive levels with emphasis on the involvement 
in local communities where our offices and staff reside. 
Team Iowa made a donation to the Bancroft Ambulatory 
Services for equipment and training, Team Florida 
contributed to two children’s charities for a back to school 
program and Samaritan’s Purse Operation Christmas 
Child, and Teams Georgia and Arkansas contributed to 
local softball teams and a fire department project. 

The many initiatives and programmes implemented this 
year are well poised and augur well for planned, sustained 
growth over the next three to five years. 

US OPERATIONS
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The newly acquired hatchery in Belleville, Pennsylvania.
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Management
Discussion &
ANALYSIS  continued

The year 2017-2018 saw profits 
grow 60% to US$1.6M from 
approximately US$1M a year ago. 
This was mainly due to continued 

increase in our sales year over year to 1.2B 
Haitian Gourde (HTG) from 851M HTG the 
previous year. Growth in egg production 
and consequently egg sales accounted for 
a significant portion of the sales increase. 
Operational efficiency continues to improve 
as revenue increases.

We continue to market our feeds and chicks 
under the Hi-Pro brand to small farmers who 
are integral to our strategy in developing 
the sector. Our processed chicken marketed 
under the Le Chic Poulet brand provides 
some small farmers through our buy-back 
program ready access to markets. We are 
proud to see continued growth in our Hi-
Pro products as this signals expansion in the 
domestic poultry production.

For the new financial year we expect to 
continue to grow our egg production and 
sales by strategically distributing these 
through our own depots and our many 
distributors. We expect a good year in spite 
of the higher grain prices and continue to 
look at other channels to sell our Le Chic 
Poulet this year.

HAITI OPERATIONS

DAVE FAIRMAN, MSc
President - Haiti Operations  

JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP

34
Jamaica Broilers Group 

Annual Report 2018
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



“Ze Peyi’m” the Haiti Broilers brand of Grade A eggs.
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Risk 
ANALYSIS We have been diligent over the last few years 

in educating our farmers regarding minimizing 
the risk of contracting diseases such as Avian 
Influenza (AI). We continue to see a reduction 

in the occurrence of outbreaks globally. The continued 
development of our staff remains a top priority in this regard 
as it is essential that our teams know and understand the 
risks associated with such diseases and are equipped to 
educate our stakeholders on the prevention methods and 
care required to maintain viable flocks. Keeping abreast of 
current trends and best practices is paramount.

Debt
MANAGEMENT The Company continues to take advantage of 

favourable market conditions to structure its 
debt and align same to our strategic objectives. 
During the year we took advantage of  lower 

interest rates by restructuring our debt by raising $4.738B 
via a Syndicated Loan and the early repayment of $2.3B 
to Bondholders. Almost all of the debt is denominated in 
Jamaican currency, thereby mitigating foreign exchange 
risk. The debt is also primarily at a fixed rate of interest, 
thereby mitigating interest rate risk. The debt facilities are 
predominantly long term, bringing further stability to the 
Balance Sheet.
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Ensuring Robust Environment, 
Quality and Safety
(EQS) MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 

The Jamaica Broilers Group of Companies 
has recorded commendable results 
for its environment, quality and safety 
management systems. In response to 

the changing context, needs and expectations of 
our stakeholders, the Company introduced a new 
Environment, Quality and Safety Policy which further 
demonstrates our commitment to providing the 
highest quality goods and services to satisfy their 
needs. We are dedicated to operating a sustainable 
business supported by focused risk management, 
attention to animal welfare and food safety best 
practices. During the year, four (4) of our facilities, 
namely Best Dressed Chicken Hatchery (BDCH), 
Best Dressed Chicken Field Operations (BDCFO), 
Best Dressed Feed Mills (BDFM) and Best Dressed 
Chicken Processing Plant (BDCPP), successfully 
transitioned to the 2015 versions of the ISO 
9001 (Quality Management System) and 14001 
(Environmental Management System) Standards 
and received certification accordingly. Having 
gone through rigorous audits, these international 
certifications are testaments to our pledge to 
implement robust management systems aligned 
with the business objectives to consistently realize 
operational efficiencies.

TRECIA ALLEN
Group Environment & Safety 
Standards Manager
JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

37
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



We keenly monitor all our compliance obligations and regulatory requirements 
of our stakeholders in order to be proactive and reduce the likelihood of non-
compliance. This vigilance is critical as the Group is aware of the fact that some 
areas of its operations have the potential to cause environmental issues.

The Group has seen a dramatic 67% reduction in lost time accidents when 
compared to the corresponding period last year. This has led to a reduction of 53% 
in absent days related to those accidents, the lowest in 5 years. Management’s 
focused efforts to strengthen the occupational safety and health programs aimed 
at reducing and eliminating safety hazards and the dedication and commitment of 
our health and safety professionals in the field can be credited with this sterling 
performance.

The Group continues to perform well in satisfying all quality and food safety 
compliance obligations. This has resulted in improved scores across the board for 
both regulatory and customer’s audits. These achievements have allowed us to 
expand our customer base both locally and regionally. Additionally, an increase 
in the number of process and supplier audits conducted, has contributed to an 
improvement in production and process efficiencies. The thrust for training has 
been elevated, resulting in the workforce being more exposed and aware of critical 
elements of food safety, thus supporting a food safety culture.

As we look forward to many more years of operation, Jamaica Broilers Group of 
Companies renews its pledge to managing its affairs with due consideration for the 
sustainability of the Jamaican environment for the present and future generations.

EQS MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS  continued

38
Jamaica Broilers Group 

Annual Report 2018
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

39
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Technology

The Information Systems Department (ISD) made significant strides over the course of the 
operational year.  Initiatives employed over the period were aimed at improving our security 
posture towards mitigating security vulnerabilities. The team implemented biometric scanners 
(fingerprint readers) in key areas to maximise the level security clearance and accountability 

around access to our datacentres. Email security was strengthened and applications deployed towards 
detecting and responding to threats on our endpoint devices in real time. These efforts were supported 
with ongoing Security Awareness Training for all members of staff.

Another major project spearheaded by ISD was the core network upgrade. This provided greater stability 
for our infrastructure and improved security of our datacentre. In addition to the core network changes, 
we also deployed both a state of the art  software defined network to improve our communications in 
the region and hyperconverged servers to increase systems productivity within each business unit. 

Chief Information Officer, Sheldon Mundle (right) with his management team (left-right) 
Michael Sutherland, IT Security Manager; 

Nymphas Stewart, Business Technology & Operations Manager; 
and Michelle McKenzie, IT Infrastructure Manager.
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RECRUITMENT

With the changes to the Group’s organizational 
structure during the previous financial year and 
given our strategic investment in human capital 
development, we were able to tap into the 

depth and strength of our human resources, in filling many 
critical positions throughout our operations. This allowed for 
the smooth transfer of knowledge, skills and expertise whilst 
providing further opportunities for capacity building within 
the workforce.

TRAINING & DEVELOPMENT

We continued to invest in our workforce through 
the provision of training and development 
programmes and initiatives. These programmes 
were geared towards enhancing productivity 

and skillsets whilst equipping colleagues to be leaders in 
their areas of expertise/practice.

Over the course of the 2017-2018 fiscal year, the Group 
saw staff being trained in areas of occupational health and 
safety; maintenance management, scheduling and control; 
hazardous material training and agile project management, 
as a few of the major areas for development, in line with the 
strategic objectives of the company. 

In broadening on-the-job scope and refining specific 
competencies, particular emphasis was placed on attending 
international and local trade shows and conventions, with a 
focus on developments in the poultry industry, information 
technology, leadership, marketing, sales and human resource 
management.

It has been and continues to be our aim to create an 
environment of equal opportunity for all, providing attractive 
total rewards and staff benefits in order to remain the 
employer of choice.

Human 
Resource 
DEVELOPMENT

NICOLE MARSHALL-WALKER
Group Human Resource Manager
JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP
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DRIVING THE BRAND 

Over 170 truckers from both Best Dressed 
Chicken and Hi-Pro participated in a 
workshop geared at building their awareness 
of the JBG Brands;  our Brand Values and the 
impact of the role they play in ‘driving the 
brands’ and delivering excellent customer 
service. Certificates of Participation were 
presented at the end of the training.

KNOWLEDGE EXCHANGE

Team members from our Haiti Operation 
visited Jamaica in August 2017 to tour our 
Jamaica Operations and visit the Denbigh 
Agricultural & Industrial Show. The teams 
were able to discuss innovations in the 
industry and exchange vital information 
towards the further development of our team 
in Haiti. 
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EMPLOYEE HEALTH 
& WELLNESS

The Group has continued to invest 
in the health and wellness of our 
employees throughout the year. 
Health professionals visit facilities 

monthly to offer blood pressure, blood 
sugar and cholesterol checks, counselling 
services and general check-ups. Our 
exercise programme sees fitness instructors 
visiting particular locations and assisting 
staff members in achieving their fitness and 
weight-loss goals. In addition to this, we 
encourage participation in corporate health 
and wellness activities and staff-led initiatives.

Human
Resources
DEVELOPMENT  continued

GIVING THANKS, STAYING FOCUSED

As usual, the first Monday in May saw JBG 
staff, contractors and associates gathering 
from near and far to kick off the fiscal year 
with hearts filled to the brim with praise and 
thanksgiving! This has become an important 
activity for us over the years as it gives us an 
opportunity to give thanks to the Lord for 
the year past, and set our focus for the year 
to come.  We had the privilege of having a 
few staff members from our US Operations 
in attendance and for those who were unable 
to attend, the service was streamed live to all 
our locations.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT
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Human
Resources
DEVELOPMENT  continued

CELEBRATING ACCOMPLISHMENTS

At Jamaica Broilers, we are acutely 
aware that employee performance is 
directly linked to employee morale. We 
are committed to fostering employee 
satisfaction and engagement. We have 
established an internal magazine which we 
call “GroupChat”. This is dispatched each 
quarter with encouraging features on various 
teams and colleagues across the Group. This 
has given us the opportunity to celebrate 
our accomplishments and get to know a bit 
more about the people with whom we serve. 
Pictured here is Annika Campbell, who has 
received the professional certification of 
Certified Industrial Hygienist (CIH), by the 
American Board of Industrial Hygiene (ABIH). 
Annika’s  achievement is significant as the 
ABIH records show that Annika is now the 
only CIH in Jamaica.

MAINTAINING MORALE 

Throughout the year and across the Group, 
we take the time out to fellowship with each 
other through small projects and activities. 
We have found that this helps to foster 
healthy relationships among our teams, 
and maintain good morale throughout our 
operations. On this particular occasion, The 
Group came out in their Jamaican colours 
for our ‘Emancipendence’ Celebration. 
Jamaican festival songs like ‘Cherry O Baby’ 
rang through the canteen during lunch time, 
with a special Jamaican menu prepared in 
honour of the occasion. 
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The Way
FORWARD

W     

ith God’s guidance we anticipate that our 60th year, 2018/2019, 
will herald another year of growth for the Jamaica Broilers Group. 

We continue to see opportunities to expand our business in the United States of America. 
We will be very deliberate in our decisions keeping in mind the broad strategy of the 
Group. 

Having successfully expanded over the years we intend to continue the steady growth of 
our Haiti Operations. We expect to further increase our capacity over the next couple of 
years by utilizing some additional acreage on our Farm there.

Food security in the Caribbean is a core concern for the Jamaica Broilers Group. Through 
our primary operations in Jamaica, we intend to do our part to ensure that safe, nutritious 
foods remain available to meet both local and regional demand.

Through our Hi-Pro brand, we continue to search for the best, most innovative solutions 
in animal care and crop production. For the last few years, we have made it a priority at 
the Denbigh Agricultural, Industrial and Food Showcase, to launch new products that 
meet the ever-evolving needs of our farmers and we will continue to invest our efforts in 
ensuring that the local agri-industry is on the cutting edge.

Hi-Pro also supplies the market with baby chicks and layer birds, encouraging micro-
economic sustainability. This is very significant to us and we commit to continued support 
of even the smallest farmer growing 25-100 chicks at a time, as we understand that this 
meets the needs of small communities and families.

The Minister of Industry, Commerce, Agriculture and Fisheries, the Honourable Audley 
Shaw, has highlighted our Best Dressed Chicken contract farming programme as a 
successful model of partnership between farmers and a large company, towards meeting 
local demand. We are proud of our farmers who have made significant investment in 
modern, tunnel ventilated houses, each with a 25,000-bird capacity and; made themselves 
and their staff available to be trained in best practices towards producing the healthiest 
flocks. Through the efforts of these farmers, we have together been able to expand our 
capacity and do our part in making sure that quality, locally grown, Best Dressed Chicken, 
remains available to the market throughout the year.

Jamaica is now 100% self-sufficient in the production of chicken meat and maintaining 
this status continues to be a priority. Every farmer is important in this business of food 
security and we will continue to support, whether they grow 25 or 25,000 at a time.

Jamaica Broilers Group 
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Corporate Social  
RESPONSIBILITY

Our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) portfolio is integral to the Jamaica Broilers Group 
culture. Both locally and overseas, our operations are pleased to serve, to share and generally 
spread goodwill to our immediate neighbours, our country and beyond. Over the course of 
the 2017-2018 fiscal year, major components of our CSR included community relations, nation 

building, caring across borders, quality and safety management systems. Effective environmental 
management and care for our environment is a business imperative. Consequently, the Group routinely 
conducts risk assessments of key business functions and have implemented proactive measures, to 
manage its environmental aspects and mitigate any potential negative impact of our activities on the 
environment as well as neighbouring communities. In fulfilment of these imperatives, well developed 
systems to receive, investigate and respond to any complaints and issues affecting our stakeholders have 
been implemented. Furthermore, we maintain a visible presence in the areas in which we operate and 
support community groups in tangible ways.

BACK TO SCHOOL

Dr. Claudette Cooke and team 
arranged to dispatch back packs 
filled with school supplies to 300 
students from Central Village, 
McCook’s Pen, Spring Village and 
Old Harbour.

RIGHT NEXT DOOR:  Community Relations
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LABOUR OF LOVE IN CENTRAL 
VILLAGE

When the rains forced cancellation of 
the Group’s Labour Day Project, the 
team committed to coming out in 
their spare time to help teachers and 
students to refresh the White Marl 
Primary School with a few coats of 
paint and some landscaping. 

BUN & CHEESE AT EASTER 

On Wednesday, March 28th, staff 
members gathered with some of the 
Spring Village’s senior citizens at the 
Best Dressed Chicken Sports Club for 
a time of prayer, singing and stories 
of the “good old days”. Guests were 
treated to bun and cheese and a Best 
Dressed Chicken lunch prepared by Ms. 
Doreen Givans (Welfare Coordinator) 
and her team from the Spring Village 
Community Development Foundation, 
as they shared tales from the early days 
in Spring Village.

DOOR TO DOOR 
AT CHRISTMAS TIME

JBG Staff headed into the communities 
of McCook’s Pen and Spring Village 
to spread some Christmas cheer to 
our neighbours. As usual, the team 
partnered with representatives from 
the communities to identify the most 
needy candidates to whom they 
delivered 300 packages of The Best 
Dressed Chicken along with staples 
such as flour, sugar, rice cornmeal and 
a few canned goods.
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OLD HARBOUR BEACH CLEAN-UP

The Best Dressed Chicken, in association with the “Nuh Dutty Up Jamaica” clean-up network campaign, 
partnered with Wisynco Eco Club, Citibank and the Old Harbour Bay Community Development Association to 
host a clean-up of the Old Harbour Bay Fishing Village. Over 250 volunteers turned out to labour on the beach! 
We also presented ten (10) garbage bins which were distributed around the Fishing Bay community to help with 
proper garbage disposal.

TRIPLING UP ON TEACHER’S DAY 

In the past, 150 teachers from schools in our community were treated to a luncheon on Teacher’s Day. This 
number was just a small sampling of the group of teachers in our community. For the first time, the team visited 
24 schools and presented a total of 550 teachers with Best Dressed Chicken gift packages.
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Corporate 
Social
RESPONSIBILITY  continued

OPERATION RESTORATION

Thanks to the efforts of the Operation 
Restoration Christian many children in Trench 
Town and the surrounding communities are 
being given the opportunity to not only 
access the educational system, but also to 
thrive. It was our privilege to partner with 
them in providing the Best Dressed Chicken 
to sustain their lunch programme throughout 
the school year.

TAKING A BEAUTIFUL VIEW

In celebration of Social Work Month, the 
Jamaica Broilers Group, through its Best 
Dressed Chicken brand, had the privilege of 
partnering with social workers of the Bellevue 
Hospital to care for the mentally ill. 

ACROSS JAMAICA: Nation Building
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Corporate 
Social
RESPONSIBILITY  continued

STEPPING UP FOR DOMINICA

Jamaica Broilers Group donated tools, 
equipment and supplies valued about $1 
million to the Jamaica Defence Force’s (JDF) 
contingent which left the to assist Dominica 
after Hurricane Maria hit in September 2017.
Tricia Jackson (second left), Store Operations 
Manager, Hi-Pro, makes a point to Lieutenant 
Colonel Mahatma Williams (second right), 
Commanding Officer 1, Engineer Regiment, 
JDF, while Regiment Sergeant Major Hecton 
Stone (right) and Dayne Patterson, Business 
Development Manager, Hi-Pro, look on. 
They were at a presentation of relief items to 
the JDF contingent to Dominica by Hi-Pro.

OPERATION CHRISTMAS CHILD 

Our Wincorp Team in Miami, USA took 
part in Operation Christmas Child, a 
project coordinated by Samaritan’s Purse, a 
“nondenominational evangelical Christian 
organization providing spiritual and physical 
aid to hurting people around the world” 
since 1970.  Toys and other relevant items 
were packed into specially decorated shoe 
boxes to be distributed to children in need 
around the world.On Saturday, December 
2nd, 2017 some of the shoe boxes were 
tracked being shipped to The Democratic 
Republic of Congo. On Monday, December 
4th, 2017 – the remaining shoe boxes were 
tracked being shipped to Cameroon. 

ACROSS THE GLOBE:  Expanding Borders
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BACK PACKS, HEALTH AND A LITTLE LOVE

The City of Miami’s Commissioner Keon Hardemon, in partnership with 
Wincorp International and the International Free and National Association 
of Negro Business and Professional Women’s Club, sponsored the annual 
“Safe Summer Back to School Health Fair 2017.”  The event forms part 
of an ongoing effort to inform, educate and empower the children in the 
community to adopt healthier lifestyle behaviours.  Each child walked 
away with a Wincorp-branded book bag and several school supplies. The 
families also enjoyed countless give-aways and free health screenings.

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

51
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



For purposes of compliance with Rule 407 of the Jamaica Stock Exchange Rules, details of stockholdings of 
Directors and Senior Management and their connected persons as at 28 April 2018 are set out hereunder:

DIRECTORS SHAREHOLDING CONNECTED PERSONS SHAREHOLDING

Robert E. Levy 
Chairman

616,000 Robert E. Levy / Judy Levy 
Portland Corporation Ltd
The Robert Levy Family Foundation 
Phillip E. Levy
The Phillip Levy Family Foundation
Jamaica Broilers Trust

6,907,893
8,805,363

100,412,389
670,000

34,964,975
168,330,275

Christopher Levy *
Group President & 
Chief Executive Officer

2,731,316 Christopher Levy / Sarah Levy 14,725,323

R. Danny Williams
Director Emeritus

NIL R. Danny Williams / Shirley Williams
Ravers Limited

NIL
9,873,332

Claudette Cooke * 
Group Vice President 
Human Resource Development 
& Public Relations

NIL Claudette Cooke / Richard Cooke
Richard Cooke
Richard Cooke / Claudette Cooke
Richard Cooke / Claudette Cooke/ Ryan Cooke

3,899,116
9,318
7,454

20

Ian Parsard
Group Senior Vice President 
Finance & Planning

NIL Ian Parsard / Karen Parsard 
Karen Parsard / Peter-John Parsard

2,292,658
5,250

Stephen Levy *
President – US Operations

NIL Stephen Levy / Michka-Mae Levy 1,339,316

Aubyn Hill
Director

342,069 _ _

Bruce Bowen
Director

28,000 Kathyrn Bowen
Mackenzie Bowen
Suzanne Fernando Bowen

NIL
NIL
NIL

Edward Barber
Director

NIL _ _

Gregory B. Shirley
Director

1,150,620 Gregory B. Shirley / Susan Shirley 4,895,990

Omar Azan
Director

NIL _ _

Trevor Dewdney
Director

53,333 Trevor Dewdney Jr.
Trevor Dewdney / Gloria Dewdney 
Don-Pierre Dewdney

9,318
9,318

19,078

* These Directors also form part of the Senior Management Team

Shareholding  OF DIRECTORS 
& CONNECTED PERSONS
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Shareholding  OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
& CONNECTED PERSONS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT SHAREHOLDING CONNECTED PERSONS SHAREHOLDING

Peter DePass
Company Secretary

NIL _ _

Lennox Channer
Vice President - Accounts

NIL Lennox Channer/ Shelee Channer/ Ma-
ya-Paige Channer 
Lennox Channer/ Shelee Channer/ Kyra-Jade 
Channer
Shelee Channer/ Lennox Channer

348,657   

348,657 

  15,532

Rochelle Cameron **
Group Assistant Vice President - HRD 
& PR

NIL Marcia Cameron 61,326

Conley Salmon
President - Jamaica Operations

NIL Conley Salmon / Juliet Salmon
Christopher McClure / Angela McClure / 
Juliet Salmon

6,783,101
NIL

Dave Fairman
President - Haiti Operations

NIL

Judy Baugh NIL Dorothy Jaggan / Eric Jaggan 354,066

John Carberry 619,173 _ _

** Effective 9 April 2018, Rochelle Cameron was appointed Group Assistant Vice President, Human Resource Development and Public Relations

The Holdings of those persons owning 
the ten (10) largest blocks of stock 
units as at 28 April 2018:

10 Largest 
ORDINARY 
STOCKHOLDERS

SHAREHOLDER SHAREHOLDING

Jamaica Broilers Trust (JBT) 168,330,275

The Robert Levy Family Foundation 100,412,389

SJIML A/C 3119 67,920,672

National Insurance Fund 64,596,054

Halcyon Limited 54,314,945

The Arrol Trust 44,411,830

Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 35,241,828

The Phillip Levy Family Foundation 34,964,975

NCB Insurance Co. Ltd. WT 109 28,487,667

Mayberry West Indies 15,795,592

__________________
PETER A. DePASS
Company Secretary

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

53
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
 
MR. ROBERT E. LEVY, CD 
Hon. LL.D, MA 
Chairman

MR. CHRISTOPHER E. LEVY 
MBA
Executive Director

THE HON. R. DANVERS WILLIAMS, OJ, CD 
Hon. LL.D, JP, CLU 
Director Emeritus

DR. CLAUDETTE D. COOKE 
Ed.D, CMT, CPC, CCRC 
Executive Director

MR. IAN S. PARSARD
MBA (Hons.), ACCA
Executive Director

DR. TREVOR D. DEWDNEY, OD 
DVM 
Director

SENATOR AUBYN R. HILL
MBA
Director

MR. OMAR L. F. AZAN, JP
Director

MR. GREGORY B. SHIRLEY
MBA
Director

MR. EDWARD Z. BARBER
B.ACY, CPA 
Director

MR. STEPHEN E. LEVY
MBA
Executive Director

MR. BRUCE F. BOWEN
BBA (Hons.), Hon. LL.D
Director

EXECUTIVE TEAM
 
MR. CHRISTOPHER E. LEVY
MBA 
Group President & Chief Executive Officer 

MR. IAN S. PARSARD 
MBA (Hons.), ACCA 
Senior Group Vice President  
Finance & Planning

DR. CLAUDETTE D. COOKE 
ED.D, CMT, CPC, CCRC 
Group Vice President 
Human Resource Development & Public Relations 

MR. LENNOX D. CHANNER (JR.) 
FCCA, MSc 
Group Vice President
Accounting 

MR. CONLEY N. SALMON
President – Jamaica Operations

MR. STEPHEN E. LEVY 
MBA
President – US Operations

MR. DAVE FAIRMAN
MSc
President – Haiti Operations

COMPANY SECRETARY
 
MR. PETER A. DEPASS 
Attorney-at-Law

Directors & Senior  
MANAGEMENT
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JAMAICA BROILERS GROUP LIMITED
Group Head Office 
Content, McCook’s Pen, St. Catherine 
Jamaica, West Indies 
Tel:  876-943-4376 
Fax: 876-943-4322 
Website: www.jamaicabroilersgroup.com

SUBSIDIARIES – LOCAL

EAL/ERI CO-GENERATION PARTNERS, LP 
Content, McCook’s Pen, St. Catherine 
Tel: 876-943-4376   Fax: 876-943-4322 

INTERNATIONAL POULTRY BREEDERS 
(JAMAICA) LTD.
Caentabert, P.O. Box 27 
Claremont, St. Ann 
Tel: 876-972-3609   Fax: 876-972-3775

SUBSIDIARIES - OVERSEAS:

ATLANTIC UNITED INSURANCE CO. LTD. 
20 Micoud Street 
Castries, St. Lucia 

HAITI BROILERS S.A. 
Lafiteau, Port Au Prince
Mailing Address: Building #47
Parc Industriel Sonapi, Port Au Prince, Haiti

INTERNATIONAL POULTRY BREEDERS INC. 
(ARKANSAS) 
660 Niven Road 
Rison, AR 71665, USA
Tel: 870-325-6231   Fax: 870-325-7252

INTERNATIONAL POULTRY BREEDERS LLC.
(GEORGIA) 
1235 Perry Batts Road 
Norman Park, GA 31771, USA 
Tel: 229-769-3410   Fax: 229-769-3425

INTERNATIONAL POULTRY BREEDERS HATCHERIES INC. 
(IOWA) 
113 North Long Street 
IA 50517, USA  

WINCORP INTERNATIONAL INC. 
10050 NW 116th Way, Suite #9 
Medley, FL 33178, USA 
Tel: 305-887-4000   Fax: 305-887-4400

DIVISIONS
 
BEST DRESSED CHICKEN
Spring Village, St. Catherine

Processing Plant:
Tel: 876-983-8001-4   Fax: 876-983-8818

Feed Mill:
Tel: 876-983-2322   Fax: 876-983-9241

Sales: 
Tel: 876-708-5670-5   Fax: 876-708-5410  
Toll Free: 1 888 BUY BDF1

HI-PRO ACE
P.O. Box 886
White Marl, St. Catherine

Hi-Pro Farm Supplies Store:
876-984-7919-20   Fax: 876-984-5914

Jamaica Egg Services:
876-749-5433   Fax: 876-749-5003

Operating
DIVISIONS & SUBSIDIARIES
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Financial 
STATEMENTS 

Advisors

AUDITORS
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Corner Duke & Port Royal Streets
P.O. Box 372, Kingston

 

BANKERS 

Exim Bank 
Jamaica First Caribbean International Bank 
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited
Inter-American Investment Corporation 
National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited 
Sagicor Investments Jamaica Limited 
Sagicor Bank
Citibank N.A. 

ATTORNEY-AT-LAW 

Peter A. DePass 
Attorney-at-Law 
96 3∕4 Old Hope Road 
Kingston 6 

REGISTRAR & SECRETARIAL AGENTS
 
PwC Corporate Services (Jamaica) 
Corner Duke & Port Royal Streets
P.O. Box 372, Kingston 

CONSULTANTS 

KPMG 
The Victoria Mutual Building 
6 Duke Street, Kingston 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
Independent auditor’s report  
To the Members of Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
 

Report on the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements  
Our opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements and the stand-alone financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of Jamaica Broilers Group Limited (the Company) and 
its subsidiaries (together ‘the Group’) and the stand-alone financial position of the Company as at 28 April 
2018, and of their consolidated and stand-alone financial performance and their consolidated and stand-
alone cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act. 
 
What we have audited 
Jamaica Broilers Group Limited’s consolidated and stand-alone financial statements comprise: 

• the Group and Company balance sheets as at 28 April 2018; 

• the Group and Company statements of comprehensive income for the year then ended; 

• the Group and Company statements of changes in stockholders’ equity for the year then ended; 

• the Group and Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies.  

Basis for opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements section of our report.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.  
 
Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.  



 
 

 
 

 

Our audit approach 
Audit scope 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in 
the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements. In particular, we considered where management 
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved 
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we 
also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters 
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to 
fraud. 
 
Our 2018 audit was planned and executed having regard to the fact that the operations of the Group 
remain largely unchanged from the prior year. 
 
How we tailored our group audit scope  
 
We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the 
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates. 
 
In addition to Jamaica, the entities of the Group are located in Haiti, St. Lucia and the United States of 
America. These entities maintain their own accounting records and report to the Group through the 
completion of consolidation packages. All companies located outside of Jamaica are audited by non-PwC 
firms. Based on the financial significance of the individual entities and our professional judgement, eight 
of these components were selected for full scope audit procedures to achieve appropriate coverage on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
In establishing the overall group audit strategy and plan, we determined the type of work that needed to be 
performed at the components by the group engagement team and component auditors. These procedures 
included:  

• Meetings/telephone calls with the management teams of the components and/or the engagement 
leaders of the audit teams to discuss the approach and our expectations for the audits; and 

• Reviewing the working papers of the auditors of select components. Completion of our reviews included 
on site visits to the offices of the component auditors or meeting at a mutually convenient location and 
interaction with audit personnel. The group engagement leader and the senior members of the group 
engagement team reviewed all inter-office and inter firm reports about the audit approach and findings 
of the component auditors in detail. 

Key audit matters  
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined that there are no key audit matters to communicate in our report in relation to the stand-alone 
financial statements. 
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the Key audit matter 

Goodwill impairment assessment 
See notes 2(h), 4 and 14 to the financial statements 
 
The Group has recorded goodwill of $410.5 
million arising from several acquisitions and 
representing approximately 1.3% of the 
Group’s total assets at year end. 
 
We focused on this area as the annual 
impairment assessment requires 
management’s judgement and estimation, 
particularly in relation to the estimation of 
future cash flows from the businesses, taking 
into consideration the growth rates, inflation 
rates, the discount rate and other underlying 
assumptions in the Group’s impairment model. 
  

 
 
 
We evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts, 
and the process by which they were drawn up, 
including testing the underlying calculations and 
comparing them to the latest Board approved budgets. 
We compared previous forecasts to actual results to 
assess the performance of the business and the 
accuracy of forecasting.  
 
We, with the assistance of our internal expert, 
challenged 
Management’s’ key assumptions. In order to do this, 
we:  

▪ compared long term growth rates to historical results 
and economic and industry forecasts. 

▪ evaluated the discount rate by testing the cost of 
capital of the Group.  

▪ in addition, we evaluated these assumptions with 
reference to valuations of similar companies. 

▪ compared the key assumptions to externally derived 
data where possible, including market expectations of 
investment return, projected economic growth and 
interest rates. 

▪ applied sensitivities in evaluating management’s 
assessment of the planned growth rate in cash flows. 
 

We found the assumptions to be consistent and in line 
with our expectations based on the procedures 
performed. 

Other information  
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Annual Report 
(but does not include the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon), which is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements does not cover the other 
information and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated 
and stand-alone financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and with the requirements of the Jamaican Companies 
Act, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated and stand-alone financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Group,the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group and Company’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these consolidated and stand-alone financial statements.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.  
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group and Company’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group and Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group or Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated and stand-alone financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated and stand-alone financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
As required by the Jamaican Companies Act, we have obtained all the information and explanations 
which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept, so far as appears from our examination of those 
records, and the accompanying consolidated and stand-alone financial statements are in agreement 
therewith and give the information required by the Jamaican Companies Act, in the manner so required. 

 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Recardo Nathan.  
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
28 June 2018 
Kingston, Jamaica 
 
 
Report on the Consolidated and Company Stand-Alone Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
and its subsidiaries, set out on pages 1 to 83, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 28 April 
2018, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other  
-alone financial  
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

 
      
   Note  28 April  29 April 

   
2018 

$’000   
2017 
$’000 

Continuing operations      
Revenue 5  48,280,867  44,444,248 
Cost of sales   (35,418,865)  (32,594,573) 
Gross Profit   12,862,002  11,849,675 
Other income 6  197,852  328,347 
Distribution costs   (1,920,943)  (1,578,385) 
Administration and other expenses   (7,757,715)  (7,366,634) 
Operating Profit   3,381,196  3,233,003 
Finance income 9  474  379,379 
Finance costs 9  (714,897)  (647,238) 
Profit before Taxation   2,666,773  2,965,144 
Taxation 10  (641,257)  (700,615) 
Net Profit from continuing operations   2,025,516  2,264,529 
Discontinued operations      
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 35  -  3,944 
Net Profit   2,025,516  2,268,473 
Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes -      
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -      

Re-measurements of post-employment benefits and obligations - 
net of taxes, continuing operations 10  (242,775)  359,775 

      
Item that will be reclassified to profit or loss -      

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations   (122,376)  119,650 
Exchange differences on translating discontinued operations    -  (956,124) 

   (122,376)  (836,474) 
Total other comprehensive income   (365,151)  (476,699) 
Total Comprehensive Income   1,660,365  1,791,774 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Group Statement of Comprehensive Income (Continued) 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 
 

 

      
   Note  28 April  29 April 

   
2018 

$’000   
2017 
$’000 

Net Profit Attributable to:      

 Stockholders of the company   1,961,380  2,232,788 
 Non-controlling interests 18  64,136  35,685 
   2,025,516  2,268,473 
Net Profit from continuing operations:      

 Stockholders of the company   1,961,380  2,228,844 
 Non-controlling interests 18  64,136  35,685 
   2,025,516  2,264,529 
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to:      

 Stockholders of the company   1,598,571  1,757,112 
 Non-controlling interests 18  61,794  34,662 
   1,660,365  1,791,774 
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Stockholders of the 

company:      

Continuing operations   1,598,571  2,709,292 
 Discontinued operations   -  (952,180) 
   1,598,571  1,757,112 
      
   $  $ 
Earnings per Stock Unit      
From continuing operations 12  1.64  1.85 
From discontinued operations 12  -  0.01 

   1.64  1.86 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Group Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Attributable to the Company’s Stockholders 

  
 
 
 

 Note    
 Number of 

Shares 

 
  Share 
Capital  Reserves 

Retained 
Earnings 

Shares 
held by 

Trust 

Non-
controlling 

Interests Total Equity 
   ’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Balance at 30 April 2016   1,199,277  765,137 2,062,158 10,332,414 - (57,499) 13,102,210 

Remeasurements of pension 
asset/obligation, net of 
taxes 10  - 

 

- - 359,775 - - 359,775 
Exchange differences on 

translating foreign 
operations 31    - 

 

- (835,451) - - (1,023) (836,474) 
Total other comprehensive 

income   - 
 

- (835,451) 359,775 - (1,023) (476,699) 

Net profit   -  - - 2,232,788 - 35,685 2,268,473 

Total comprehensive 
income   - 

 

- (835,451) 2,592,563 - 34,662 1,791,774 

Dividends   27  -  - - (419,746) - - (419,746) 

Transfer from capital reserves   -  - 233 (233) - - - 

Realised reserves 31  -  - (56,245) - - - (56,245) 
Total transactions with 

owners   - 
 

- (56,012) (419,979) - - (475,991) 

Movement during the year   -  - (891,463) 2,172,584 - 34,662 1,315,783 

Balance at 29 April 2017   1,199,277  765,137 1,170,695 12,504,998 - (22,837) 14,417,993 
Remeasurements of pension 

asset/obligation, net of 
taxes 10  - 

 

- - (242,775) - - (242,775) 
Exchange differences on 

translating foreign 
operations 31  - 

 

- (120,034) - - (2,342) (122,376) 

Total other comprehensive 
income   - 

 

- (120,034) (242,775) - (2,342) (365,151) 

Net profit   -  - - 1,961,380 - 64,136 2,025,516 

Total comprehensive 
income   - 

 

- (120,034) 1,718,605 - 61,794 1,660,365 

Dividends   27   -  - - (407,754) - - (407,754) 

Purchase of shares by Trust 30  (165,452)  - - - (3,010,231) - (3,010,231) 
Total transactions with 

owners   (165,452) 
 

- - (407,754) (3,010,231) - (3,417,985) 

Movement during the year   (165,452)  - (120,034) 1,310,851 (3,010,231) 61,794 (1,757,620) 

Balance at 28 April 2018   1,033,825  765,137 1,050,661 13,815,849 (3,010,231) 38,957 12,660,373 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Group Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

   28 April  
 

29 April  

   Note  
2018 
$’000  

2017 
$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

 Net profit   2,025,516  2,268,473 

 Adjustments for:      

Depreciation   743,833  733,862 

Amortisation 14  122,350  125,656 

Property, plant and equipment write-off   -  7,998 

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  6  (2,542)  418 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries 35  -  (39,474) 

Gain on disposal of assets held for sale   -  (74,530) 

Disposal adjustment   -  (5,778) 

Impairment of investment   -  39,263 

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value  
through profit or loss 6  (19,349)  (4,450) 

Changes in post-employment benefits   (67,600)  (30,800) 

Taxation expense 10  641,257  700,615 

Interest income   (200,615)  (194,089) 

Unrealised foreign exchange losses/(gains)   37,555  (44,608) 

Interest expense   737,706  627,106 

    4,018,111  4,109,662 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Inventories   (619,214)  (1,016,265) 

Biological assets   (1,110,382)  (1,414,054) 

Receivables   (379,965)  (288,661) 

Payables   660,946  1,142,405 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   12,112  (54,943) 

Translation gain on working capital of foreign subsidiaries   34,469  (193,333) 

   2,616,077  2,284,811 

Taxation paid   (438,601)  (930,673) 

Cash provided by operating activities   2,177,476  1,354,138 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Group Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

   28 April  
 

29 April  

   
2018 
$’000  

2017 
$’000 

 Note     
Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Page 5)   2,177,476  1,354,138 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (1,962,190)  (749,302) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   5,344  23,181 

Proceeds from disposal of assets held for sale   -  90,572 

Purchase of investments   (249,285)  - 

Purchase of intangible assets   (6,378)  - 

Loans receivable repayments   339,607  - 

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of costs   -  461,873 

Interest received   345,782  36,452 

Cash used in investing activities    (1,527,120)  (137,224) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities       

  Loans repaid   (1,126,210)  (1,174,596) 

  Loans received   3,612,504  1,674,847 

  Other long term liabilities paid   (749,580)  - 

  Interest paid   (609,112)  (619,509) 

  Dividends paid   (407,754)  (419,746) 

  Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   719,848  (539,004) 

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (40,962)  45,585 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,329,242  723,495 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   1,596,383  872,888 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  25  2,925,625  1,596,383 
 
Non-cash transaction during the year amounted to $2,432,250,000 in relation to repayment of the bond holders. 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Company Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

   28 April  

 
   

29 April  

 Note   
2018  
$’000   

2017 
 $’000 

Revenue   34,579,821  32,547,914 

Cost of sales   (26,916,016)  (25,161,058) 

Gross Profit   7,663,805  7,386,856 

Other income 6  180,456  825,450 

Distribution costs   (1,429,998)  (1,170,541) 

Administration and other expenses   (4,903,045)  (4,917,580) 

Operating Profit   1,511,218  2,124,185 

Finance income 9  139,655  487,077 

Finance costs 9  (589,242)  (521,597) 

Profit before Taxation   1,061,631  2,089,665 

Taxation 10  (189,357)  (318,296) 

Net Profit   872,274  1,771,369 

Other Comprehensive Income, net of taxes -      

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss -      

 Re-measurements of post-employment benefits 10  (234,825)  349,950 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   637,449  2,121,319 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Company Statement of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

     
 Number 

of Shares 

 
  Share 
Capital  

Capital 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total  

  Note ’000  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Balance at 30 April 2016   1,199,277  765,137 133,201 9,214,373 10,112,711 

Remeasurement of pension asset/obligation, net of 
taxes  10 - 

 
- - 349,950 349,950 

Total other comprehensive income   - 
 

- - 349,950 349,950 

Net profit   - 
 

- - 1,771,369 1,771,369 

Total comprehensive income   -  - - 2,121,319 2,121,319 

Dividends   27 -  - - (419,746) (419,746) 

Amalgamation  34 -  - 89,746 (34,120) 55,626 

Movement during the year   -  - 89,746 1,667,453 1,757,199 

Balance at 29 April 2017   1,199,277  765,137 222,947 10,881,826 11,869,910 
Remeasurement of pension asset/obligation, net of 

taxes  10 - 
 

- - (234,825) (234,825) 

Total other comprehensive income   -  - - (234,825) (234,825) 

Net profit   -  - - 872,274 872,274 

Total comprehensive income   -  - - 637,449 637,449 

Dividends    27 -  - - (407,754) (407,754) 

Movement during the year   -  - - 229,695 229,695 

Balance at 28 April 2018   1,199,277  765,137 222,947 11,111,521 12,099,605 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Company Statement of Cash Flows 
Year ended 28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

   28 April  
 

29 April  

   Note  
2018 
$’000  

2017 
$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities      

 Net profit   872,274  1,771,369 

 Adjustments for:      

Depreciation 13  389,116  381,563 

Amortisation 14  12,919  14,439 

Property, plant and equipment write off   -  6,417 

Liquidation of subsidiaries   -  651 

Amalgamation   -  (375) 

(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  6  (2,542)  418 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries   -  (87,139) 

Investment write off   -  39,263 

Changes in post-employment benefits   (66,300)  (30,100) 

Taxation expense 10  189,357  318,296 

Interest income   (317,226)  (322,001) 

Dividend income   -  (406,177) 

Unrealised foreign exchange gains   (10,931)  (187,710) 

Interest expense   621,342  520,718 

    1,688,009  2,019,632 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Inventories   (270,672)  (561,142) 

Biological assets   13,427  (38,022) 

Receivables   (1,094,874)  (385,583) 

Subsidiaries   (1,033,204)  (2,279,948) 

Intercompany loans receivable   1,425,203  1,805,076 

Payables   611,657  746,570 

   1,339,546  1,306,583 

Taxation paid   (214,255)  (427,535) 
Cash provided by operating activities   1,125,291  879,048 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Company Statement of Cash Flows (Continued) 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

   28 April  
 

29 April  

 Note  
2018 
$’000  

2017 
$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities (Page 10)   1,125,291  879,048 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities      

Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries, net of costs   -  461,873 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13  (1,159,908)  (374,254) 

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   5,079  8,275 

Purchase of intangible asset   (6,378)  - 

Loans receivable repayments   339,607  - 

 Interest received   324,565  17,766 

Dividend received   -  406,177 

Cash (used in)/provided by investing activities    (497,035)  519,837 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities       

  Loans repaid   (807,264)  (531,388) 

  Loans received   2,666,300  250,000 

  Interest paid   (493,834)  (512,987) 

  Dividends paid   (407,754)  (419,746) 

  Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities   957,448  (1,214,121) 

Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents   (40,962)  45,585 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   1,544,742  230,349 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   946,315  715,966 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  25  2,491,057  946,315 
 
Non-cash transaction during the year amounted to $2,432,250,000 in relation to repayment of the bond holders. 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

1. Identification 
 

Jamaica Broilers Group Limited (the company) is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in 
Jamaica. Its registered office is located at Content, McCooks Pen, St. Catherine.  The company was incorporated 
in 1958. 
 
The principal activities of the company and its subsidiaries include the production and distribution of poultry 
products, animal feeds and agricultural items (Note 2(b)).  
 
The company’s subsidiaries together with the company are referred to as “the Group”.   
 
The company is listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

(a) Basis of preparation 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the revaluation of biological assets and certain financial assets. 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and action, actual results could differ from those estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 

 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the current year 

 
Certain new standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards have been published that 
became effective during the current financial year. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new 
standards, interpretations and amendments and has put into effect the following IFRS, which are 
immediately relevant to its operations: 

 
• Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2017). In January 2017, the IASB published amendments to IAS 7 to improve information 
about an entity's financing activities. These amendments are part of the IASB initiative to improve 
presentation and disclosure in financial reports. The amendments require disclosure of information 
enabling users to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities including both cash and 
non-cash changes.  The Group has provided the additional disclosure in these financial statements 
(Note 28). 
 

• Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2017). In January 2017, the IASB published amendments to IAS 12 clarifying specifically how 
to account for deferred tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value as well as clarifying 
the guidance for deferred tax assets in general by adding examples and elaborating on some of the 
requirements in more detail. The amendments do not change the underlying principles for the 
recognition of deferred tax assets. 
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted by the Group  
 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new accounting standards, amendments and 
interpretation to existing standards have been issued which are not yet effective, and which the Group has not 
early adopted. The Group has assessed the relevance of all such new standards, interpretations and 
amendments and has determined that the following may be relevant to its operations. Unless stated 
otherwise, the impact of the changes is still being assessed by management. 
 
• IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018).  

In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 which is the comprehensive standard to replace IAS 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’, and includes requirements for classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities, impairment of financial assets and hedge 
accounting.  Financial assets are required to be classified into three measurement categories: those to 
be measured subsequently at amortised cost, those to be measured subsequently at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and those to be measured subsequently at fair value through 
profit or loss (FVPL). 
 
Classification for debt instruments is driven by the entity’s business model for managing the financial 
assets and whether the contractual cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest 
(SPPI). If a debt instrument is held to collect the asset’s cash flows, it may be carried at amortised cost 
if it also meets the SPPI requirement. Debt instruments that meet the SPPI requirement that are held in 
a portfolio where an entity both holds to collect assets’ cash flows and sells assets may be classified as 
FVOCI.  Financial assets that do not contain cash flows that are SPPI must be measured at FVPL (for 
example, derivatives). Embedded derivatives are no longer separated from financial assets but will be 
included in assessing the SPPI condition.   
  
Management is in the process of assessing the impact of IFRS 9 on the Group. An implementation team 
headed by the Group VP Accounting was created to oversee the implementation project. The project 
involves impact assessment to determine the key potential areas of impact and to develop a plan to 
address the implementation of the standard, conversion assessment to focus on key areas of impact 
identified and quantify what changes to the financial statements may be required and embedding the 
new accounting standard into the existing reporting structure. 

 
Currently management has completed impact assessment and key decisions around the transition 
approach, practical expedients and data and system needs are currently being reviewed by 
management. Based on the impact assessment of the effects of applying the new standard, 
management does not expect any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements. 

 
• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2018) deals with revenue recognition and establishes principles for reporting useful 
information to users of financial statements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with customers. Revenue is recognised when a 
customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the ability to direct the use and obtain the 
benefits from the good or service. The standard replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenue’ and IAS 11 ‘Construction 
contracts’ and related interpretations. Early application is permitted.  
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Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)  
 
• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ (continued) 

Management is in the process of assessing the impact of IFRS 15 on the Group. An implementation 
team headed by the Group VP Accounting was created to oversee the implementation of the standard. 
This involves impact assessment to determine the key potential areas of impact and development of a 
plan to address the implementation of the standard, conversion assessment to focus on key areas of 
impact identified and quantification of what changes to the financial statements may be required and 
embedding the new accounting standard into the existing reporting structure. 

 
Currently management has completed impact assessment and key decisions around the transition 
approach, practical expedients and data and system needs are currently being reviewed. Based on the 
impact assessment of the effects of applying the new standard management does not expect any 
significant impact on the financial statements. 

 
• Amendment to IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’  (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018) comprise clarifications of the guidance on identifying performance 
obligations, accounting for licences of intellectual property and the principal versus agent assessment 
(gross versus net revenue presentation). New and amended illustrative examples have been added for 
each of those areas of guidance. The IASB has also included additional practical expedients related to 
transition to the new revenue standard. Early application is permitted. The Group will apply the amendment 
effective 29 April 2018. 

 
• IFRS 16, ‘Leases’, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). In January 2016, 

the IASB published IFRS 16 which replaces the current guidance in IAS 17. Under IAS 17, lessees were 
required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off 
balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease 
payments and a ‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. There is an optional exemption for 
lessees for certain short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 

 
• Amendments to IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ on plan amendment, curtailment or settlement’ 

(effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2019). These amendments require an entity 
to: use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net interest for the remainder of the 
period after a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement; and recognise in profit or loss as part of past 
service cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction in a surplus, even if that surplus was not 
previously recognized because of the impact of the asset ceiling. 

 
• Amendments to IAS 40, ‘Investment property relating to transfer of investment property, 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018). These amendments clarify that to 
transfer to, or from, investment properties there must be change in use. To conclude if a property has 
changed use, there should be an assessment of whether the property meets the definition. 
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(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 
Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted by the Group (continued)  
 
• IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration’ (effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018). This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or parts of 
transactions where there is consideration that is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 
interpretation provides guidance for when a single payment/receipt is made as well as for situations 
where multiple payment/receipt are made. The guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. It does 
not apply when an entity measures the related asset, expense or income on initial recognition at fair 
value of the consideration received or paid at a date other than the date of initial recognition of the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the interpretation need not be applied to income taxes, 
insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts. 

 
• IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2019). This IFRIC clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 
‘Income taxes’ are applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. An uncertain tax 
treatment is any tax treatment applied by an entity where there is uncertainty over whether the treatment 
will be accepted by the tax authority. 

 
• Annual improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 cycles. The amendment to IAS 28,’Investments in 

associates and joint ventures’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 
clarifies that the election by venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar entities 
to measure investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss should be 
made separately for each associate or joint venture at initial recognition.  

 
• Annual improvements to IFRS 2015 - 2017 Cycle – Amendments to IFRS 3, IAS 12 and IAS 23 

(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019). The amendments to IFRS 3 clarifies 
how a company remeasures its previously held interest in a joint operation when it obtains control of a 
business. The amendments to IAS 12 clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends should be 
recognised in profit or loss, regardless of how the tax arises. The amendments to IAS 23 clarify that if 
any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, 
that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the 
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.  

 
There are no other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a material impact on the operations of the Group.   
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28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Consolidation 
 

(i) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the 
voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the group controls another entity. The Group also 
assesses existence of control where it does not have more than 50% of the voting power but is able to 
govern the financial and operating policies by virtue of de-facto control. De-facto control may arise in 
circumstances where the size of the Group’s voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 
of other shareholders give the Group the power to govern the financial and operating policies, etc. 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 
The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree on an acquisition- by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
 
If a business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any 
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition 
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an 
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other 
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its 
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
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28 April 2018 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Consolidation (continued) 
 

(i) Subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Goodwill is recorded at cost and represents the excess of the value of consideration paid over the 
Group’s interest in net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the 
acquire and the fair value of the non-controlling interest in the acquire. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are 
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill 
relating to the entity sold. 
 
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is 
made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose, identified according to operating segment. 
 
Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are 
recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect 
changes in consideration arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Consolidation (continued) 
 

(i) Subsidiaries (continued) 
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the company and its operating divisions and 
subsidiaries as follows: 

  Principal Activities  

% Ownership 
by Company 

at 28 April 
2018 

% Ownership 
by Group 

at 28 April 
2018 

Resident in Jamaica:      
Operating divisions       
Best Dressed Chicken   

 

Poultry and pullet production and feed 
milling, processing and sale of salted 
products/pickled products  100    100 

Hi-Pro Ace  
Feed sales, suppliers of farming equipment 

and supplies                  100    100    
      

Subsidiaries      
Content Agricultural Products Limited  Property rental  100    100 
Energy Associates Limited 
and its subsidiary:  Holding and investment company  100    100 

CE Jamaica Inc.  Non- trading  - 100 
JB Group Limited  Non- trading  100    100 
EAL/ERI Co-generation Partners, LP  Generation of electricity  - 100 
ERI Jam, LLC   Non-trading  - 100 
Hamilton Smoke House Limited  Non-trading   100 100 
Jabexco Limited  Non-trading  100    100 
International Poultry Breeders (Jamaica) 

Limited   
Fertile egg production and cattle rearing for 

sale  100    100 
Levy Industries Limited   Property rental  100    100 
Master Blend Feeds Limited  Property rental  100    100 
Trafalgar Agriculture Development Limited  Non-trading  100    100 
S.G Developments Limited  Non-trading  100    100 

      
Resident outside of Jamaica:        

Atlantic United Insurance Company 
Limited, St. Lucia   Captive insurance  100 100 

International Poultry Breeders Inc., USA  
and its subsidiaries  Holding company  100 100 

England Packing Company Inc. 
USA   Packing company  - 100 

England Transport Company Inc USA  Transportation  - 100 
England Farms Inc. USA  Fertile egg production  - 100 

International Poultry Breeders Hatcheries 
Inc. USA  Hatching and distribution of baby chicks  100 100 

International Poultry Breeders LLC.,USA  Fertile egg production   90    90 
Wincorp Properties Limited, USA  Non-trading  100 100 
Haiti Broilers, S.A.  

and its subsidiary:  
Production and sale of broilers, layer pullets, 

table eggs and animal feeds  68 68 
T&S Rice S.A., Haiti  Lessee of production facilities in Haiti  - 68 

WI Trading (St. Lucia) Limited, St. Lucia   Aircraft ownership  100 100 
Jabexco Cayman Limited, Cayman Islands  Non-trading  40    40 

Wincorp International, Inc., USA 
and its subsidiary:  

Procurers and distributors of agricultural and 
industrial supplies  100    100 

Consolidated Freight and Shipping, 
Inc., USA  Ocean freight consolidator  -  100 

 
The JBGL Stockholders Nominee Limited is consolidated in the Group as a special purpose entity.  
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(b) Consolidation (continued) 
  

(ii) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries without change of control 
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions, that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference 
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of 
net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling 
interests are also recorded in equity. 
 

(iii) Disposal of subsidiaries 
When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value 
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair 
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest 
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed 
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

(c) Segment reporting 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is the President and Chief Executive Officer.  

 
(d) Revenue recognition 

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of General Consumption Tax, returns, 
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. 
 
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and specific criteria have been met in relation to the Group’s 
activities as described below: 
 
Sales of goods 
Sales are recognised upon delivery of products, customer acceptance of the products and collectibility of the 
related receivables is reasonably assured. 
 
Sales of services  
Fees and commission income fees arising from tolling and insurances contracts are generally recognised 
on an accrual basis when the service has been provided.  
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Revenue recognition (continued) 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised in profit or loss for all interest bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the 
effective yield method based on the actual purchase price. Interest income includes coupons earned on fixed 
income investments and accrued discount on other discounted instruments.  

 
(e) Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Jamaican dollars, which is the Group’s 
presentation currency and the company’s functional currency. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss, except when deferred in other comprehensive 
income. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents 
are presented in the statement of comprehensive income in other income. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency transactions and 
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss, except when deferred in equity as gains or losses 
from qualifying cash flow hedging instruments. 
 
All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the profit or loss are presented net in the profit or 
loss within the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses on other comprehensive income 
items are presented in other comprehensive income within the corresponding item. 
 
Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as available-
for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the amortised cost of 
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation differences related to 
changes in amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are 
recognised in stockholders’ equity. 
 
Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities held at fair value 
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-
monetary financial instruments, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are 
included in the capital reserve in stockholders’ equity. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(e) Foreign currency translation (continued) 
 

(iii) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 
translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

 
(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date 

of that balance sheet; 
 

(b) income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless 
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the 
transactions); and 

 
(c) all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

  
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets 
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate. Exchange differences arising are 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 
(f) Income taxes 

Taxation expense in profit or loss comprises current and deferred tax charges. 
 
(i) Current taxation 

Current tax charges are based on taxable profit for the year, which differs from the profit before tax 
reported because it excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other years, and items that are 
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated at tax rates that have been 
enacted at balance sheet date. 

 
(ii) Deferred taxation 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. 
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax 
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability settled. 
 

Deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

 
Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
 
The tax effects of income tax losses available for carry-forward are recognised as an asset when it is 
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which these losses can be utilised. 

 
  

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

85
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Page 22 

Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost, less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost 
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Land is carried at cost and is 
not depreciated. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis at such rates as will write off the carrying value of the 
assets over the period of their estimated useful lives. The expected useful lives are as follows: 

              
   Freehold buildings      11 – 100 years 
   Leasehold property      Life of lease 
   Plant, machinery and equipment   4 – 33 years 
   Furniture and fixtures     10 years 
   Motor vehicles       3 – 5 years 
   

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying 
amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 
 
Gains and losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds 
with the carrying amount and are recognised in other income in profit or loss. 
 
Repairs and maintenance expenditure are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(h) Intangible assets 
(i) Goodwill 

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the acquisition date. Goodwill on acquisition of 
subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment 
annually and carried at cost less accumulated impairment.  Impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed.   Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating 
to the entity sold. 

 
An excess of the identifiable net assets acquired over the acquisition cost is treated as negative goodwill. 
Negative goodwill related to expected post-acquisition losses is taken to profit or loss during the period 
the future losses are recognised. Negative goodwill which does not relate to expected future losses is 
recognised as income immediately.  
 
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is assigned to cash 
generating units that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.  
 

(ii) Computer software 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and 
bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised over the estimated useful life of ten years 
for software on a straight line basis.  Amortisation is recognised in the profit or loss in administration 
and other expenses. 
 
Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an 
expense as incurred. 

 
(iii) Brands  

Brands are recorded at historical cost. They are acquired in a business combination and are recognised 
at the fair value at acquisition date. These costs have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight line method over their expected 
useful lives of 7 to 15 years. 
 

(iv) Customer relationships 
Customer relationships are recorded at cost and represent the value of the consideration paid to acquire 
customer contract and the related customer relationships. These costs are amortised over the estimated 
useful lives of the relationships between 8 to 10 years. 

 
(v) Non-compete agreements 

Non-compete agreements are recorded at cost and represent the attributed consideration paid to 
acquire them. These costs are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the non-compete 
agreements which is between 2 to 10 years. 

 
(vi) Product formulation 

Product formulation are recorded at cost and represent the value of the consideration paid to have rights 
to the use of recipes and formulations. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of 
20 years. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(i) Investment properties 
Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment 
properties are treated as long-term investments and are carried at deemed cost less accumulated 
depreciation. Freehold buildings are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives 
of 60 years. 

 
(j) Impairment of non-financial assets 

Property, plant and equipment and other non-current assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the greater of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purpose of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows.  
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date. 
 

(k) Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for 
which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at 
initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every reporting date. 
 
(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated as fair 
value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified in this category if acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management. Assets in this 
category are classified as current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be realised 
within 12 months of the balance sheet date.  
 

(ii) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 
12 months after the balance sheet date, which are classified as non-current assets. Loans and 
receivables are classified as ‘trade and other receivables’ in the balance sheet.  
 

(iii) Available-for sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative financial assets intended to be held for an indefinite 
period of time, which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange 
rates or equity prices.  Available-for-sale investments are initially recognised at fair value, which is the 
cash consideration including any transaction costs. 
  

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised at the trade date – the date on which 
the Group commits the purchase or sell the asset. Loans and receivables are recognised when cash is 
advanced to the borrowers. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(k) Financial assets (continued) 
Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-
for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value. Loans and receivables financial assets are carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, until the 
financial asset is derecognised or impaired. At this time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or loss. However, interest calculated using the 
effective interest method and foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as available 
for sale are recognised in the profit or loss. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payment is established. 
 
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on current bid prices. Unquoted securities 
are recorded initially at cost.  They are subsequently measured at fair value.  Where fair value cannot be 
measured reliably they are measured at cost less impairment. 
 
Financial assets are derecognised when the right to received cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  Financial liabilities are 
derecognised when they are extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expires. 
 
The group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial 
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired 
and impairment and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a 
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and that loss event has 
an impact on the estimated cash flows of the financial asset or financial group of assets that can be reliably 
estimated. 

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying value amount and the present value of estimated cash flows discounted at the financial 
asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount is reduced and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the previously 
recognised impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss. 
 
For equity investments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its costs is 
also evidence that the assets are impaired. If any such assets exists the cumulative loss is removed from 
the equity and recognised in the profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in the consolidated profit or 
loss on equity instruments are not reversed through the profit or loss. 

Financial liabilities 
The Group’s financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. These liabilities are classified as current and  
non-current liabilities. 
 

(l) Interest in subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(m) Employee benefits  
(i) Pension obligations  

The Group has a defined benefit plan and a defined contribution plan; the assets of which are generally 
held in separate trustee-administered funds. The pension obligations are determined by periodic 
actuarial calculations.  
 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate fund and will have no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if this fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees’ benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods.  The regular contributions constitute net periodic costs for the year in which they are 
due and as such are included in staff costs in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Typically, defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on 
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. 
 
The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair value of plan 
assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that 
are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related pension liability. 
 
The current service cost of the defined benefit plan, recognised in the income statement in employee 
benefit expense, except where included in the cost of an asset, reflects the increase in the defined 
benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the current year, benefit changes curtailment and 
settlements. 
 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income. 
 
The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net balance of the defined benefit 
obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included in employee benefit expense in the 
profit or loss. 
 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions of the defined benefit obligation are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise. 
 
An overseas subsidiary also operates a defined contribution plan. The subsidiary’s contributions are based 
primarily on employee participation. Once the contributions have been paid, the subsidiary has no further 
legal or constructive obligations. The contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense when 
they are due. 

 
(ii) Other post-employment benefits 

The Group also provides supplementary medical and life insurance benefits to qualifying employees 
upon retirement. The entitlement to these benefits is usually conditional on the employee remaining in 
service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum service period. The expected costs of 
these benefits are accrued over the period of employment using the same accounting methodology as 
used for defined benefit pension plans. Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments, 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income. 
These obligations are valued annually by independent qualified actuaries. 
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(m) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(iii) Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal 
retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits.  
 
The Group recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: terminating the 
employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or 
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits 
falling due more than 12 months after the balance sheet date are discounted to present value. 
 

(iv) Leave entitlements 
 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is 

made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
balance sheet date.  
 

(v) Profit-sharing and performance incentives 
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for performance incentives and profit-sharing based on 
a formula that takes into consideration the profit before taxation after certain adjustments. The Group 
recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a 
constructive obligation. 
 

(n) Inventories 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in,  
first-out (FIFO) method. 
 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the cost of selling 
expenses. 
 

(o) Biological assets 
Biological assets include beef cattle, breeder flocks held for the production of hatching eggs, layer pullets 
being grown for sale to table egg farmers, layer pullets held for the production of table eggs, and broiler flocks 
at various stages of growth.  
 
There is an active market in Jamaica for beef cattle.  
 
No active markets exist for breeder flocks, layer pullets in grow out and broiler flocks at various stages of 
growth. Biological assets, except breeder flocks and pullets in production, are measured at fair value less cost 
to sell. Fair value is determined by reference to available market data.  In the absence of market data, fair 
value is based on management’s best estimate considering available data and benchmark statistics. Gains 
and losses arising from changes in fair values are recorded in profit or loss for the period in which they arise. 
 
Breeder flocks and pullets in production are capitalised. Breeder flocks and pullets in production are not sold 
and no active market exists for these birds. Other references to market prices such as market prices for similar 
assets are also not available. Valuation based on a discounted cash flow method is considered to be unreliable 
given the uncertainty with respect to mortality rates and production. Consequently, breeder flocks and pullets 
in production are measured at cost, less depreciation and impairment losses.   
 
Pullets in production are depreciated on a straight line basis over the production life cycle which is estimated 
to be one year on average.  
 
Breeder flocks are depreciated over the production cycle which is estimated to be nine months on average 
based on the anticipated production output month to month.   
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(p) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due 
according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the profit or loss in administration and other expenses. When a 
trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited in profit or loss. 

 
(q) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, 
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand, short term deposits and investments with 
original maturity dates of ninety days or less, net of short term loans and bank overdrafts.  
 

(r) Trade payables  
Trade payables are stated at cost. 

 
(s) Borrowings and borrowing costs 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method.  
 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are 
capitalised as part of the cost of these assets.  Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets 
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 
 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

(t) Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
events, if it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate of the amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. 
 
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest 
expense. 

 
(u) Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment, where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are recognised at the inception of the lease at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased asset or the present value of minimum lease payments. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and interest charges so as to produce a constant rate of charge on 
the lease obligation. The interest element of the lease payments is charged to profit or loss over the lease 
period. 
 
Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful 
life of the asset or the lease term.   
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(u) Leases (continued) 
Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the period of the lease. 

 
(v) Dividends paid 

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in stockholders’ equity in the period in which they are approved 
by the company’s stockholders. 

 
Dividends for the year that are declared after the balance sheet date are dealt with in the subsequent events 
note. 

 
(w) Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity share 
capital, the consideration paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is 
deducted from equity attributable to the company’s owners until the shares are reissued or cancelled. Where 
shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received (net of any directly attributable incremental 
transaction costs and the related income tax effects) is included in equity attributable to company’s owners. 

 
 

3. Financial Risk Management 
  

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value 
interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme includes a focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.  
 
The Group’s risk management policies are designed to identify and analyse these risks, to set appropriate risk 
limits and controls, and to monitor the risks and adherence to limits by means of reliable and up-to-date 
information systems. The Group regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes 
in markets, products and emerging best practice. 
 
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework.  The Board approves principles for overall risk management. The Board has 
established functions/committees for managing and monitoring risks, as follows: 

 
(i) Treasury Function 

The Treasury function is responsible for managing the Group’s assets and liabilities and the overall 
financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Group. The 
Treasury function identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. 

 
(ii)  Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the 
risks faced by the Group. The Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal 
Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results 
of which are reported to the Audit Committee. 

 
The most important types of risk are credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk includes currency 
risk, interest rate and other price risk. 
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3.    Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 
The Group takes on exposure to credit risk, which is the risk that its customers or counterparties will cause 
a financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge their contractual obligations. Credit exposures arise 
principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and investment activities.  The Group structures 
the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a single 
counterparty or groups of related counterparties. 
 
Credit review process 
The Group has an established credit process which involves regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and 
other counterparties to meet repayment obligations.   

 
(i) Trade and other receivables 

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Customers of the Group include wholesalers, farm store and feed customers, and chicken 
farmers.  There is a credit policy in place under which each wholesaler and feed customer is analysed 
individually for creditworthiness prior to the Group offering them a credit facility. Customers are 
assigned credit limits, which represent the maximum credit allowable. The Group has procedures in 
place to restrict customer orders if the orders will exceed their credit limits. Customers that fail to meet 
the Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group on a prepayment basis. 
 
The credit quality of the customer is assessed, taking into account its financial position, past experience 
and other factors.  The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.  Sales to farm store customers 
are settled in cash or by the use of major credit cards. 

 
The Group establishes a provision for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in 
respect of trade and other receivables. Impairment is assessed for each customer balance over  
30 days. 

 
The Group’s credit period on the sale of goods ranges from 7 to 30 days. The Group has provided fully 
for all receivables where collectibility is deemed doubtful. 

 
(ii) Investments 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by investing mainly in liquid securities, with counterparties 
that have high credit quality and Government of Jamaica securities.  Accordingly, management does 
not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Ageing analysis of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired 
 

Loans receivable and trade receivables that are less than 30 days past due are not considered impaired.  
Loans receivable and trade receivables over 30 days overdue are considered for impairment assessment. 

 
As of 28 April 2018 and 29 April 2017, there were no loan receivable amounts that were past due and 
required a provision. Trade receivables of $670,776,000 (2017 - $602,842,000) and $472,177,000 (2017 - 
$412,762,000) for the Group and company, respectively, were past due for more than 30 days. The amount 
of the provision for trade receivables was $304,012,000 (2017 - $293,343,000) and $259,786,000 (2017 - 
$257,181,000) for the Group and company, respectively. The impairment recognised represents an 
estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables. The main components of the provision for 
impairment are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, and a collective 
loss component based on the time value of money. The impaired receivables mainly relate to wholesalers 
who are in unexpected difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is 
expected to be recovered.  
 

  The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Past due 31 to 60 days 241,163  197,904  177,074  149,188 
Past due 61 to 90 days 69,261  38,166  44,961  23,497 

Past due over 91 days 360,352  366,772  250,142  240,077 
 670,776  602,842  472,177  412,762 

 
Movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables 
The movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables was as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

At beginning of year 293,343  283,846  257,181  235,366 
Provision for receivables 

impairment 84,714  54,080  27,394  45,750 

Receivables written off during 
the year as uncollectible (48,529)  (23,682)  (149)  (3,094) 

Unused amounts reversed -  (2,692)  -  (2,692) 

Recoveries (24,640)  (18,149)  (24,640)  (18,149) 
Translation (876)  (60)  -  - 

At end of year 304,012  293,343  259,786  257,181 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(a) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Movement on the provision for impairment of trade receivables (continued) 
 

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in expenses in profit or 
loss. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash. 
 
There are no significant financial assets other than those listed above that were individually impaired. 

 
Exposure to credit risk for trade receivables 

 
The following table summarises the Group’s and company’s credit exposure for trade receivables at their 
carrying amounts, as categorised by the customer sector: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Supermarket chains 159,869  143,978  138,295  123,055 

Wholesalers and retail distributors 715,097  642,505  633,032  554,027 

Hotels 151,391  151,333  143,915  142,960 

Farmers/farm stores 1,709,676  1,412,311  750,719  587,792 

Other 310,145  382,853  247,916  281,909 

 3,046,178  2,732,980  1,913,877  1,689,743 

Less: Provision for impairment  (304,012)  (293,343)  (259,786)  (257,181) 
 2,742,166  2,439,637  1,654,091  1,432,562 

  

96
Jamaica Broilers Group 

Annual Report 2018
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Page 33 

Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 
(a) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Exposure to credit risk for other financial assets 

 
The following table summarises the Group’s and company’s credit exposure for investments at their carrying 
amounts, as categorised by issuer.  

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Loans receivable 1,988,564  2,552,881  4,475,715  5,489,089 
Investments 251,752  -  -  - 
Financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss  767,150  760,696  -  - 
Subsidiaries -  -  2,366,657  2,093,502 
Cash and short term investments 3,116,000  2,004,565  2,668,324  1,127,511 
 6,123,466  5,318,142  9,510,696  8,710,102 

 
(b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may be unable to meet its payment obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities when they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash 
and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  
 
Liquidity risk management process 
 
The Group’s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Group and monitored by the Treasury 
function, includes: 
 
(i) Monitoring future cash flows and liquidity periodically. This incorporates an assessment of expected 

cash flows; 

(ii) Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against 
any unforeseen interruption to cash flow; 

(iii) Maintaining committed lines of credit; 

(iv) Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
The matching and controlled mismatching of the maturities and interest rates of assets and liabilities are 
fundamental to the management of the Group.  It is unusual for companies ever to be completely matched 
since business transacted is often of uncertain term and of different types. An unmatched position potentially 
enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. 
 
The maturities of assets and liabilities and the ability to replace, at an acceptable cost, interest-bearing 
liabilities as they mature, are important factors in assessing the liquidity of the Group and its exposure to 
changes in interest rates and exchange rates. 
 
Financial liabilities cash flows 
 

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s and company’s financial liabilities at  
28 April 2018 and 29 April 2017 based on contractual undiscounted payments.  
 

 The Group 

  
Within 3 
Months 

 4 to 12  
Months  

 2 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
 5 Years  Total   

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
As at 28 April 2018       
Payables  3,273,187 1,547,484 - -   4,820,671 

Borrowings  538,756 5,470,538 3,819,305 1,842,936 11,671,535 

Other long term liabilities  1,540,268 - 720,383 -   2,260,651 
Total financial liabilities 

(contractual maturity dates)  5,352,211 7,018,022 4,539,688 1,842,936 18,752,857 
 

 The Group 

  
Within 3 
Months 

4 to 12  
Months  

 2 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
 5 Years  Total   

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
As at 29 April  2017       
Payables  4,274,664 45,716 - - 4,320,380 

Borrowings  947,284 2,057,658 4,074,587 2,925,585 10,005,114 
Total financial liabilities 

(contractual maturity dates)  5,221,948 2,103,374 4,074,587 2,925,585 14,325,494 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities cash flows (continued) 
 

 The Company 

  
Within 3 
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
 5 Years  Total   

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
As at 28 April 2018       
Payables  1,855,356 1,509,391 - - 3,364,747 
Subsidiaries  38,842 - - - 38,842 
Borrowings  441,390 4,144,283 3,058,438 1,249,397 8,893,508 

Total financial liabilities 
(contractual maturity dates)  2,335,588 5,653,674 3,058,438 1,249,397   12,297,097 

 
 The Company 

  
Within 3 
Months 

 3 to 12  
Months  

 1 to 5 
 Years  

Over 
 5 Years  Total   

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000  
As at 29 April 2017       
Payables  2,842,551 - - - 2,842,551 
Subsidiaries  36,402 - - - 36,402 
Borrowings  408,102 1,416,968 2,960,694 2,866,065 7,651,829 

Total financial liabilities 
(contractual maturity dates)  3,287,055 1,416,968 2,960,694 2,866,065 10,530,782 

 
Assets available to meet liabilities and to cover financial liabilities include cash and short term investments.  
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Off-balance sheet items – Contingent liabilities and commitments 
 

(a) The company has guaranteed US$3,860,000 (2017 - US$5,360,000) in favour of various financial 
institutions for loans undertaken by the company and certain subsidiaries. 
 

(b) The company is contingently liable to its bankers in respect of guarantees in the ordinary course of 
business totaling approximately $12,000,000 (2017 - $16,000,000). 

 
(c) The Group has no capital commitments authorized. 

 
(d) The company has committed to fund the purchase of the shares by the JBGL Stockholders Nominee 

Limited in the amount of $3,010,231,000. 
 
(e) The Group has obligations under long term operating leases for premises.  Future minimum lease 

payments under such commitments are as follows: 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000   

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

  
 

28 April 
2018 

$’000   

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

  
Not later than 1 year 143,959  173,169  38,512  39,756 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 

years 759,790 
 

428,578  58,674 
 

74,622 

Later than 5 years 22,855  80,438  -  - 

 926,604  682,185  97,186  114,378 
 

(f) The Group is subject to various claims, disputes and legal proceedings, in the normal course of 
business.  Provisions are made for such matters when in the opinion of management and its legal 
counsel, it is probable that a payment will be made by the Group and the amount can be reasonably 
estimated. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk  
The Group takes on exposure to market risk, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks mainly arise from 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices. Market risk is monitored 
by the Group’s Treasury function which carries out research and monitors the price movement of financial 
assets on the local and international markets.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. 

 
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the risk. 

 
(i) Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with 
respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised 
assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations.  
 
The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign assets and 
liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.  The Group further manages 
this risk by maximising foreign currency earnings and holding foreign currency balances. 
 
The Group has operations in two functional currencies, Jamaican dollar and United States dollar, which 
provide a natural hedge in currency risk. 
 
The Group’s balance sheet at 28 April 2018 includes aggregate net foreign assets (2017 – liabilities) 
of approximately US$1,506,000 (2017 – (US$10,392,000)) in respect of transactions arising in the 
ordinary course of business. 
 
The company’s balance sheet at 28 April 2018 includes aggregate net foreign assets of approximately 
US$28,174,000 (2017 – US$37,211,000), in respect of transactions arising in the ordinary course of 
business. 
 
Foreign currency sensitivity 
 
The following tables indicate the currencies to which the Group and company had significant exposure 
on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows.  The change in currency rate below 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates with all 
variables held constant.  The sensitivity analysis on pre-tax profit is based on outstanding foreign 
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for 2%  
(2017 – 1%) depreciation and a 4% (2017 – 6%) appreciation of the US dollar against the Jamaican 
dollar.   There was no impact on other components of equity. 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(i) Currency risk (continued) 

 
 The Group 

 
% Change in 

Currency Rate 

Effect on  
Pre-Tax 

 Profit 

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on  
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

 
28 April  

2018 

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

28 April  
2018 

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

Currency:     
USD +4 7,508 +4 151,860 
USD -2 (3,754) -2            (75,930) 

 
 The Group 

 

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on  
Pre-Tax 

 Profit 

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on  
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

 
29 April  

2017 

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

29 April   
2017 

29 April   
2017 
$’000 

Currency:     
USD +6 86,138 +6 175,754 
USD -1 (14,356) -1 (29,292) 

 
 The Company 

 

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on  
Pre-Tax  

Profit 

% Change in 
Currency 

Rate 

Effect on 
 Pre-Tax  

Profit 

 
28 April  

2018 

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

29 April   
2017 

29 April   
2017 
$’000 

Currency:     
USD +4 140,462 +6 288,908 
USD -2 (70,231) -1 (48,151) 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(ii) Interest rate risk  

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 
 
Floating rate instruments expose the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate 
instruments expose the Group to fair value interest risk. 

 
The Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises from its long term investments, loans receivable and 
borrowings.  This risk is managed by analysing the economic environment and obtaining fixed rate 
loans when interest rates are expected to rise and floating rate loans when interest rates are expected 
to fall.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets and 
liabilities.  
 
Investments 
 
At 28 April 2018 and 29 April 2017, the Group’s investments were fixed rate instruments. 
 
Interest rate sensitivity 
 
The following tables indicate the sensitivity to a reasonable possible change in interest rates, with all 
other variables held constant, on the Group’s and company’s profit or loss and stockholders’ equity. 
 
The sensitivity of the profit or loss is the effect of 1% increase/1% decrease (2017 – 1% increase and 1% 
decrease) for Jamaican dollar denominated loans and a 0.5% increase/0.5% decrease (2017 – 1% 
increase and 0.5% decrease) for US dollar denominated loans on pre-tax profit based on the floating rate 
borrowings.  The sensitivity of other components of stockholders’ equity is calculated by revaluing fixed 
rate available-for-sale financial assets for the effects of an assumed change in interest rates.  There were 
no available-for-sale financial assets at the current or prior year end. 

 The Group  The Company 

 

Effect on  
Pre-tax  

Profit 

Effect on 
 Pre-tax  

Profit  

Effect on  
Pre-tax 
 Profit 

Effect on 
Pre-tax 

Profit 

 

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

29 April   
2017 
$’000  

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

29 April   
2017 
$’000 

Change in basis points:      
Jamaican dollars      
-  100(2017: -100) 15,000 7,500  15,000 7,500 
+  100(2017: 100) (15,000) (7,500)  (15,000) (7,500) 
      
US dollars      
-  50(2017: -100) 7,984 5,649  - 5,649 
+  50(2017: 100) (7,984) (11,300)                     - (11,300) 
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3. Financial Risk Management (Continued) 
 

(c) Market risk (continued) 
(iii) Commodity price risk 
 

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in 
market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its 
issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the market.   
 
The Group and the company are exposed to price risk relating to corn and soya bean meal. 
 
The Group and the company enter into commodity contracts or related financial instruments in respect 
of its future usage requirements. The price of these commodities is reviewed regularly in considering 
the need for active financial risk management. 
 
To manage price risk on imported corn and soya bean meal, the prices are tracked and items 
purchased in advance if prices are increasing. 
 

(d) Capital management 
 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for its stockholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital as well as meet externally imposed capital 
requirements. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net 
operating income divided by total stockholders’ equity. The Board of Directors also monitors the level of 
dividends to ordinary stockholders. 
 
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 
ratio is calculated as borrowings divided by total capital. Borrowings include current and non-current 
borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. Total capital is calculated as ‘stockholders’ equity’ 
as shown in the consolidated balance sheet plus borrowings. 
 
During 2018, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 2017, was to maintain the gearing ratio 
below 1:1. The gearing ratios at 28 April 2018 and 29 April 2017 were as follows: 
 

     The Group 

     

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 

$’000  
Borrowings      10,023,430  7,702,075 

Total capital      22,644,846  22,142,904 

Gearing ratio     0.44:1  0.35:1 
 
There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during the year.   
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4. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
 
(a) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made no significant 
judgements regarding the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 

(b) Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Income taxes 
Estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are some transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group recognises liabilities for possible tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be 
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were originally recorded, 
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made. 
 
Post-employment benefits 
Accounting for some post-employment benefits requires the use of actuarial techniques to make a reliable 
estimate of the amount of benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and 
prior periods.  These actuarial assumptions are based on management’s best estimates of the variables that 
will determine the ultimate cost of providing post-employment benefits and comprise both demographic and 
financial assumptions.  Variations in the financial assumptions can cause material adjustments in the next 
financial year, if it is determined that the actual experience differed from the estimate (Note 20). 
 
Depreciable assets 
Estimates of the useful life and the residual value of property, plant and equipment are required in order to 
apply an adequate rate of transferring the economic benefits embodied in these assets in the relevant 
periods. The Group applies a variety of methods in an effort to arrive at these estimates from which actual 
results may vary.  Actual variations in estimated useful lives and residual values are reflected in profit or 
loss through impairment or adjusted depreciation provisions. 
 
Assessment of goodwill 
The Group test annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting 
policy stated in Note 2(i). The assessment of goodwill impairment involves the determination of the value in 
use. Determination of value in use involves the estimation of future cash flows from the business taking into 
consideration the growth rates, inflation rates and the discount rate. Any changes in these variables would 
impact the value in use calculations. A 1% increase in the discount rates would result in a reduction in the 
value in use by $293,278,000 which would not result in an impairment of goodwill of $410,535,000  
(Note 14). 
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5. Segmental Financial Information 
 
Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the President and Chief 
Executive Officer that are used to make strategic decisions. 
 
Segment information is provided for reportable segments as follows: 
 
• Jamaica Operations 
• US Operations 
• Other Caribbean Operations 

 
      The business is considered primarily from a geographical perspective. 

 
Interest income and interest expense are not included in the measure of segment results and are not regularly 
reviewed by the President and Chief Executive Officer. 
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5. Segmental Financial Information (Continued) 
 

  
 2018 

 

  
Jamaica 

Operations US Operations  

Other 
Caribbean 

Operations Eliminations  Group 
 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

External revenues   33,996,482 12,039,588 2,244,797 - 48,280,867 

Revenue from other segments   296,481 3,063,122 534,847 (3,894,450) - 

Total revenue   34,292,963 15,102,710 2,779,644 (3,894,450) 48,280,867 

        

Segment result   3,039,264 1,427,978 604,459 (209,055) 4,862,646 

Unallocated corporate expenses    
 

  (1,481,450) 

Operating profit    
 

  3,381,196 

Finance income    
 

  474 

Finance costs    
 

  (714,897) 

Profit before tax    
 

  2,666,773 

Taxation    
 

  (641,257) 

Net profit     
 

  2,025,516 

    
 

   

Segment assets -    
 

   

Current assets   14,363,747 6,482,748 1,992,260 (3,407,431) 19,431,324 

Non-current assets   9,606,857 2,626,265 1,310,412 (1,962,797) 11,580,737 

Total assets   23,970,604 9,109,013 3,302,672 (5,370,228) 31,012,061 

Segment liabilities -     
 

   

Current liabilities   7,823,984 3,734,454 2,024,696 (1,117,708) 12,465,426 

Non-current liabilities   4,266,311 2,535,633 2,984 (918,666) 5,886,262 

Total liabilities   12,090,295 6,270,087 2,027,680 (2,036,374) 18,351,688 

    
 

   

Other segment items-    
 

   

Capital expenditure   1,171,135 557,142 240,291 - 1,968,568 

Amortisation   20,283 102,067 - - 122,350 

Depreciation   465,538 184,260 93,869 - 743,667 
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5. Segmental Financial Information (Continued) 
 

  
 2017 

 

  
Jamaica 

Operations 
US 

Operations  

Other 
Caribbean 

Operations Eliminations Group 
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

External revenues   31,955,577 10,862,452 1,626,219 - 44,444,248 

Revenue from other segments   265,288 2,921,429 498,471 (3,685,188) - 

Total revenue   32,220,865 13,783,881 2,124,690 (3,685,188) 44,444,248 
        

Segment result   2,872,997 1,291,764 943,657 (176,102) 4,932,316 

Unallocated corporate expenses       (1,699,313) 

Operating profit       3,233,003 

Finance income       379,379 

Finance costs       (647,238) 

Profit before tax       2,965,144 

Taxation       (700,615) 

Net profit from continuing operations       2,264,529 

Loss for the year from discontinued operations       3,944 

Net profit       2,268,473 

Segment assets -         

Current assets   10,787,263 5,696,346 1,886,043 (1,848,574) 16,521,078 

Non-current assets   10,599,918 2,406,852 918,889 (2,981,085) 10,944,574 

Total assets   21,387,181 8,103,198 2,804,932 (4,829,659) 27,465,652 

Segment liabilities -         

Current liabilities   4,552,934 2,996,358 1,405,434 (1,859,694) 7,095,032 

Non-current liabilities   5,146,177 2,807,138 645,652 (2,646,340) 5,952,627 

Total liabilities   9,699,111 5,803,496 2,051,086 (4,506,034) 13,047,659 

        

Other segment items-        

Capital expenditure   438,713 223,399 87,190 - 749,302 

Amortisation   21,803 103,853 - - 125,656 

Depreciation   496,970 149,669 88,123 - 733,862 

Impairment charge   39,041 - - - 39,041 
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6. Other Income 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 

$’000 
Dividend income from subsidiary -  -  -  406,177 
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss  
(Note 24) 20,304 

 

4,450 

 

-  - 

Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (36,285)  31,072  (36,338)  31,072 

Gain/(loss) on sale of property, plant and 
equipment 2,542 

 
(418) 

 
2,542 

 
(418) 

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  -  -  -  87,139 
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale -  74,948  -  - 

Interest income 35,076  28,824  12,176  17,766 

Management fees -  -  153,786  230,126 

Reinsurance commissions 47,314  49,107  -  - 
Other 128,901  140,364  48,290  53,588 

 197,852  328,347  180,456  825,450 
 

7. Expenses by Nature 

 The Group 
 

The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

    29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

   29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Auditors’ remuneration 55,310  58,616  15,878  17,610 
Advertising and promotions 799,905  798,819  737,158  724,880 
Amortisation of intangible assets  

 
122,350  125,656  12,919  14,439 

Impairment charge -  39,041  -  39,041 
Bad debts 84,714  54,080  27,394  45,750 
Cost of inventories recognised as 

expense 25,331,094  23,913,230  19,885,968  18,879,665 
Depreciation 729,738  678,952  389,116  381,565 
Fuel  674,222  566,961  492,306  413,188 
Legal and professional fees 209,380  158,630  107,920  91,777 
Insurance 366,460  357,143  553,370  516,138 
Occupancy – rent and utilities 1,067,573  888,840  636,048  528,356 
Repairs and maintenance 1,385,922  1,262,051  1,207,773  1,067,161 
Staff costs (Note 8) 9,649,851  8,416,008  5,447,520  4,995,960 
Trucking 1,530,549  1,274,598  1,187,004  1,020,165 
Other expenses 3,090,455  2,946,967  2,548,685  2,513,484 

 45,097,523  41,539,592  33,249,059  31,249,179 
Expenses by nature include the total of cost of sales, distribution costs, administration and other expenses.   
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8. Staff Costs 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

    29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

  29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Wages, salaries and contractors’ costs 8,234,922  7,134,766  4,548,979  4,132,186 
Payroll taxes - Employer’s portion 427,724  384,822  311,227  276,585 
Pension costs - defined contribution plan 43,827  33,996  190  - 
Pension costs - defined benefit plan (Note 20) 80,500  106,900  79,200  106,100 
Post-employment medical benefits (Note 20) 2,000  1,900  1,900  1,800 
Termination costs 18,886  59,822  18,886  55,010 
Other - benefits and welfare 841,992  693,802  487,138  424,279 

 9,649,851  8,416,008  5,447,520  4,995,960 
 
9. Finance Income and Costs 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

  29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

  29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Finance income -        
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains (165,065)  214,114   (165,395)  182,852 
Interest income 165,539  165,265  305,050  304,225 
 474  379,379  139,655  487,077 

        
Finance costs -        

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses (22,809)  20,132     (32,100)  879 
Interest expense 612,528  610,261  496,421  504,143 
Amortisation of debt financing fees and  

other expenses 125,178 
 

16,845 
 

124,921  16,575 
 714,897  647,238  589,242  521,597 

 
10. Taxation 
  
 Subsidiaries incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica, United States of America, Haiti and St. Lucia are taxable at a 

rate of 25% & 33 1/3%, 34% - 45%, 30% and 1% on their income, respectively. The Corporate tax rates in the USA 
were reduced from 34% to 21% effective January 1, 2018. 
 

(a) Taxation is based on the profit for the year adjusted for tax purposes and comprises:  
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

  Current taxation 876,109  587,848  316,191  267,685 
  Prior year (over)/under provision (45,577)  11,752      (16,722)      (50,278) 
  Deferred taxation (Note 19) (189,275)  101,015   (110,112)  100,889 
 641,257  700,615  189,357  318,296 
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10. Taxation (Continued) 
 

(b) The tax on the Group’s and company’s profit differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the 
applicable tax rate as follows:  

 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

  
29 April  

2017 
$’000 

 
28 April 

2018 
$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Profit before taxation for taxable entities 2,744,634  3,131,362  1,061,631  2,089,665 
Loss before taxation for non-taxable entities (77,861)  (166,218)  -  - 
 2,666,773  2,965,144  1,061,631  2,089,665 

        
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates 686,158  782,840  265,407  522,416 
Adjusted for:        

Income not subject to tax (61,943)  (78,426)  (7,500)  (100,301) 

Employment tax credit (73,862)  (80,223)  (73,210)  (80,223) 

Adjustment to deferred tax (19,631)  2,290  (18,683)  - 
Prior year (over)/under provision -  

current tax (45,577) 
 

11,752 
 

    (16,722)  (50,278) 

Different tax rate in other countries 72,598  51,070  -  - 

Effect of changes in tax rates 26,514  -  -  - 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 48,283  21,704  42,442  17,472 
Other allowances 8,717  (10,392)  (2,377)  9,210 
Income tax expense 641,257  700,615  189,357  318,296 

 
(b) The tax charge/(credit) relating to components of other comprehensive income is as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April  
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April  
2018 
$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Other comprehensive income -        
   Remeasurements on retirement  

  benefits  
  assets, before tax 

323,700 
 

(479,700)  313,100 
 

(466,600) 
  Tax charge (Note 20) (80,925)  119,925  (78,275)  116,650 
 242,775  (359,775)  234,825  (349,950) 
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11. Net Profit/Retained Earnings Attributable to the Stockholders 
 

 

28 April  
2018 
$’000 

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Net profit attributable to:    
  Holding company 872,274  1,771,369 

Intercompany dividend and management fees (153,786)  (636,303) 
Adjusted Holding company profits 718,488  1,135,066 

   Subsidiaries 1,242,892  1,097,722 
  1,961,380  2,232,788 

Retained earnings attributable to:    
Holding company 11,111,521  10,881,826 
Subsidiaries 2,704,328  1,623,172 

 13,815,849  12,504,998 
 

12. Earnings Per Stock Unit 
 

The calculation of earnings per ordinary stock unit is based on the Group’s net profit attributable to stockholders 
and ordinary stocks units in issue (Note 30).  

 

   
28 April  

2018  
29 April  

2017 
Net profit attributable to stockholders from continuing operations ($’000)   1,961,380  2,228,844 
Net profit attributable to stockholders from discontinued operations ($’000)    -  3,944 
Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000)   1,961,380  2,232,788 
      
Weighted average number of ordinary stock units (‘000)   1,198,370  1,199,277 
      
Basic earnings per stock unit from continuing operations ($)   1.64  1.85 
Basic earnings per stock unit from discontinued operations ($)   -   0.01 
Basic earnings per stock unit ($)   1.64  1.86 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
 The Group 

 
Freehold  

Land   
Freehold 

Buildings  
Leasehold 

Property 

Plant, 
Machinery   

&   
Equipment  

Furniture 
& Fixtures  

Motor   
Vehicles   

 Capital   
Work in  

Progress   Total   
 $’000   $’000   $’000 $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   

At Cost - 2018 

At 29 April 2017 413,694 3,362,354 318,121 5,756,953 674,541 999,128 197,446 11,722,237 

Additions 6,482 159,484 9,014 342,921 51,107 134,983 1,258,199 1,962,190 

Disposals - - (6,993) - (5,201) (90,566) - (102,760) 

Reclassification - (10,409) 10,409 - - - - - 

Transfer from CWIP - - 206,319 1,007,763 47,669 5,558 (1,267,309) - 
Transfer to Intangible 

  assets - - - - - - 
 

(40,384) (40,384) 

Write off - (40,552) - - (1,233) - - (41,785) 

Translation (3,322) (30,753) 469 (31,532) (2,115) (7,473) (4,041) (78,767) 

At 28 April 2018 416,854 3,440,124 537,339 7,076,105 764,768 1,041,630 143,911 13,420,731 

         

Depreciation -         

At 29 April 2017 - 1,145,026 114,355 2,299,683 466,892 633,995 - 4,659,951 

Charge for the year - 104,317 55,472 389,629 66,643 127,606 - 743,667 

Relieved on disposals - - (6,993) - (4,901) (88,064) - (99,958) 

Reclassification - 21,338 (21,338) - -  - - 

Write off - (40,552) - - (1,233) - - (41,785) 

Translation - (8,300) (1,632) (12,231) (1,046) (4,047) - (27,256) 

At 28 April 2018 - 1,221,829 139,864 2,677,081 526,355 669,490 - 5,234,619 

Net Book Value -         

At 28 April 2018 416,854 2,218,295 397,475 4,399,024 238,413 372,140 143,911 8,186,112 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 
 
 The Group 

 
Freehold  

Land   
Freehold 

Buildings  
Leasehold 

Property 

Plant, 
Machinery   

&   
Equipment  

Furniture 
& Fixtures  

Motor   
Vehicles   

 Capital   
Work in  

Progress   Total   
 $’000   $’000   $’000 $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   $’000   

At Cost - 2017 

At 30 April 2016 464,947 3,347,183 311,283 10,239,796 1,049,724 911,466 103,935 16,428,334 

Additions - - 721 126,318 15,864 109,508 496,891 749,302 

Disposals - - - (17,172) - (35,628) - (52,800) 

Disposal of subsidiaries (53,808) (114,507)  (5,037,881) (406,397) (1,905) (3) (5,614,501) 

Transfer from CWIP - 81,953 17,096 286,941 2,182 7,862 (397,615) (1,581) 

Write off - - - - - - (6,417) (6,417) 

Translation 2,555 47,725 (10,979) 158,951 13,168 7,825 655 219,900 

At 29 April 2017 413,694 3,362,354 318,121 5,756,953 674,541 999,128 197,446 11,722,237 

         

Depreciation -         

At 30 April 2016 - 1,059,194 85,011 3,554,792 697,557 529,903 - 5,926,457 

Charge for the year - 100,542 32,253 391,452 78,515 130,934 - 733,696 

Relieved on disposals - - - (2,266) - (26,935) - (29,201) 

Disposal of subsidiaries - (25,010) - (1,693,320) (317,925) (1,905) - (2,038,160) 

Reclassification - - 149 (93) (56) - - - 

Translation - 10,300 (3,058) 49,118 8,801 1,998 - 67,159 

At 29 April 2017 - 1,145,026 114,355 2,299,683 466,892 633,995 - 4,659,951 

Net Book Value -         

At 29 April 2017 413,694 2,217,328 203,766 3,457,270 207,649 365,133 197,446 7,062,286 
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued) 

 

 
The Company 

 
Freehold  

Land  
Freehold  

Buildings   
Leasehold 

Property 
Machinery   

&  Equipment  

Furniture  
&  

Fixtures  
Motor   

Vehicles   

 Capital    
Work in   

Progress   Total   

         $’000   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

At Cost -         

At 30 April 2016 78,182 1,663,915 38,510 3,379,447 465,417 632,326 97,554 6,355,351 

Additions  -  721 22,804 15,866 73,037 261,826 374,254 

Disposals (53,808) - - - - (35,628) - (89,436) 

Transfers from CWIP - - 1,775 271,009 - - (272,784) - 

Amalgamation 11,130 206,052 - - - - - 217,182 

Write off - - - - - - (6,417) (6,417) 

At 29 April 2017 35,504 1,869,967 41,006 3,673,260 481,283 669,735 80,179 6,850,934 

Additions  - - - 56,686      45,343      106,303    951,576  1,159,908 

Disposals - - - - - (88,685) - (88,685) 

Transfers from CWIP - - - 870,625 37,371 - (948,380) (40,384) 

Reclassification - 41,006 (41,006) - -              - - - 

At 28 April 2018 35,504 1,910,973 - 4,600,571 563,997 687,353 83,375 7,881,773 

Depreciation -         

At 30 April 2016 - 444,772 12,112 1,357,875 316,909 422,405 - 2,554,073 

Charge for the year - 45,961 4,598 194,880 53,670 82,454 - 381,563 

Disposal - - - - - (26,935) - (26,935) 

Amalgamation - 163,078 - - -           - - 163,078 

At 29 April 2017 - 653,811 16,710 1,552,755 370,579 477,924 - 3,071,779 

Charge for the year - 46,156 4,628 214,157 47,138 77,037 - 389,116 

Disposals - - - - - (86,148) - (86,148) 

Reclassification - 21,338 (21,338) - - - - - 

At 28 April 2018 - 721,305 - 1,766,912 417,717 468,813 - 3,374,747 

Net Book Value -         

At 28 April 2018 35,504 1,189,668 - 2,833,659 146,280 218,540 83,375 4,507,026 

At 29 April 2017 35,504 1,216,156 24,296 2,120,505 110,704 191,811 80,179 3,779,155 
 

Depreciation is charged to cost of sales and administration and other expenses in profit or loss.  

Jamaica Broilers Group 
Annual Report 2018

115
Jamaica Broilers Group  

Annual Report 2018



Page 52 

Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

14. Intangible Assets 
 

  
  

 
 The Group  

The 
Company 

 

 
Goodwill 

Brands and 
Customer 

Relationships 

Non-
Compete 

Agreement 
Product 

Formulation 
Computer 
Software Total  

Computer 
Software 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000  $’000 

Cost -         

At 30 April 2016 405,141 693,616 145,529 20,780 255,680 1,520,746  247,018 
Disposal of 

subsidiaries - - - - (3,013) (3,013)  - 

Translation 17,510 31,934 6,917 - 364 56,725  - 

At 29 April 2017 422,651 725,550 152,446 20,780 253,031 1,574,458  247,018 

Additions - - - - 6,378 6,378  6,378 

Transfer from CWIP - - - - 40,384 40,384  40,384 

Translation (12,116) (22,096) (4,786) - (197) (39,195)  - 

At 28 April 2018 410,535 703,454 147,660 20,780 299,596 1,582,025  293,780 

Amortisation -         

At 30 April 2016 - 131,550 60,317 2,684 160,923 355,474  153,546 

Charge for the year - 73,535 35,310 1,039 15,772 125,656  14,439 
Disposal of 

subsidiaries - - - - (3,013) (3,013)  - 

Translation - 6,431 3,048 - 315 9,794  - 

At 29 April 2017 - 211,516 98,675 3,723 173,997 487,911  167,985 

Charge for the year - 73,238 35,154 1,039 12,919 122,350  12,919 

Translation - (7,418) (3,668) - (197) (11,283)  - 

At 28 April 2018 - 277,336 130,161 4,762 186,719 598,978  180,904 

 Net Book Value -          

28 April 2018 410,535 426,118 17,499 16,018 112,877 983,047  112,876 
29 April  2017 422,651 514,034 53,771 17,057 79,034 1,086,547  79,033 
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14. Intangible Assets (Continued) 
 

Impairment tests for goodwill 
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis or when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. This requires an estimation of the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the goodwill is allocated. The recoverable amount is usually determined 
by reference to the value in use. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected 
future cash flows from the CGU and also to choose an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present 
value of those future cash flows.  
 
The amortisation of intangible assets is included in administration and other expenses in profit or loss. 
 

The allocation of goodwill to the Group’s cash generating units (CGUs) identified according to segment is as follows: 
 

     

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April 
2017 
$’000 

US operations      357,502  369,618 
Jamaica operations     53,033  53,033 

     410,535  422,651 
 

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use. These calculations use cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate 
does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU operates. 
 
Key assumptions used for value in use calculations: 
 

 

Revenue 
Growth 

Rate  
EBITDA to 

Revenue  

Capital 
Expenditure 
to Revenue  

Discount  
Rate 

        
US operations  3.0%  5.0%- 28%  1.0%  10.5% 
Jamaica operations 6.0%  8.2%  1.2%  18.3% 
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15. Investment Property 
 

       The Group 
 

    
 

  
Land and 
Buildings 

        $’000 
Cost -         

At 30 April 2016, At 29 April 2017 and  
At 28 April 2018     

 
  9,976 

Depreciation -          
At 30 April 2016        3,331 
Charge for the year        166 
At 29 April 2017        3,497 
Charge for the year        166 
At 28 April 2018        3,663 

Net Book Value -          
At 28 April 2018        6,313 
At 29 April 2017        6,479 

 
The investment property was valued by independent valuers, Allison Pitter & Company as at December 2015, 
on the basis of open market value. The market value of the property is estimated to be $27,000,000. 
 
Rental income earned on these properties amounted to $1,496,000 (2017 - $1,542,000). There was no repairs 
and maintenance on the property. 

 
16. Investments 
 
 The Group  The Company 
 28 April  29 April   28 April  29 April  
 2018  2017  2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Available-for-sale -        
Unquoted equities- at cost  8,567  8,567  8,567  8,567 

        
Fair value through profit or loss -         

Corporate bonds 249,285  -  -  - 
Interest receivable 2,467  -  -  - 
 251,752  -  -  - 
 260,319  8,567  8,567  8,567 
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17. Loans Receivable 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April  29 April   28 April  29 April  
 2018  2017  2018  2017 
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Non-Current        
External 1,647,029  2,051,914  1,647,029  2,051,914 
Related parties (Note 32) -  -  1,639,016  2,657,295 

 1,647,029  2,051,914  3,286,045  4,709,209 
Current        

External 341,535  500,967  341,535  500,967 
Related parties (Note 32)  -  -  848,135  278,913 
 341,535  500,967  1,189,670  779,880 

 1,988,564  2,552,881  4,475,715  5,489,089 
        

 
The external loan to West Indies Petroleum Limited matures June 2023 with annual principal repayments of 
US$2,643,000. Interest is charged at a rate of 8% per annum. The current portion includes interest receivable 
of $12,129,000 (2017 – $158,981,000) for both the Group and the Company. Included in the related parties 
current portion for the Company is interest receivable of $6,401,000 (2017 - $78,344,000). 

 
18. Non-Controlling Interests 

 
 The Group 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000    

29 April 
2017 
$’000  

Beginning of year  (22,837)  (57,499) 
Share of total comprehensive income, as restated:    
Share of net profit of subsidiaries 64,136  35,685 
Revaluation loss (2,342)  (1,023) 
End of year 38,957  (22,837) 
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18. Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) 
 

Summarised financial information on subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests 
 
Set out below is the summarised financial information for the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that 
are material to the Group. 
 
Summarised balance sheet 
 

   The Group 

 

 

    

28 April   
2018 
$’000     

29 April   
2017 
$’000 

Current        
Assets     1,018,982  960,853 
Liabilities     (1,432,614)  (1,393,730) 

Total current net liabilities     (413,632)  (432,877) 

Non-current        
Assets     732,039  558,176 

Total non-current net assets     732,039  558,176 
Net assets     318,407  125,299 

 
Summarised income statement  

     The Group 

 

 

    

28 April   
2018 
$’000     

 29 April 
2017 
$’000 

Revenue     2,244,797  1,626,219 

Profit before income tax     270,209  117,233 

Taxation expense     (23,340)  (5,717) 

Profit after tax/Total comprehensive income     246,869  111,516 

Total comprehensive income allocated to non-
controlling interest      61,794  34,662 
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18. Non-Controlling Interests (Continued) 
 
Summarised cash flows 

     The Group 

 

 

    

28 April 
2018 
$’000     

29 April  
2017 
$’000   

Cash flows from operating activities        

Cash generated from operations     414,719  150,315 

Interest paid     (14,833)  (24,300) 

Net cash generated from operating activities     399,886  126,015 

Net cash used in investing activities     (240,291)  (87,161) 

Net cash provided by financing activities     (99,810)  104,021 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents     59,785  142,875 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year     27,602  (115,273) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     87,387  27,602 

 
The information above represents amounts before intercompany eliminations.  
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19. Deferred Income Taxes 
 

Deferred income taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using the effective tax rates used 
throughout the Group (Note 10). 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

The movement on the deferred income  
Deferred tax assets  (59,317)  (37,681)  -  - 
Deferred tax liabilities  481,348  729,764  424,846  613,233 

  422,031  692,083  424,846  613,233 
 
The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

 28 April 
2018 
$’000   

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

Balance at start of year 692,083  469,685  613,233  390,232 
(Credited)/charged to profit or loss (Note 10) (189,275)  101,015  (110,112)  100,889 
(Credited)/charged to other comprehensive 

income (Note 10) (80,925)  119,925  (78,275)  116,650 

Amalgamation -  -  -  5,462 
Translation 148  1,458  -  - 
Balance as at end of year 422,031  692,083  424,846  613,233 

 
The deferred tax assets and liabilities at the end of the year are as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Deferred income tax assets -        
Other post-employment benefits 6,500  5,600  6,025  5,200 
Property, plant and equipment 1,458  -  -  - 
Accrued vacation and general provisions 15,763  13,251  15,491  13,040 
Tax losses unused 3,352  7,524  -  - 
Interest payable 16,966  10,365  16,305  9,890 
Intangible assets 57,859  63,634    - 
Unrealised foreign exchange losses 56,111  52  55,700  - 

 158,009  100,426  93,521  28,130 
Deferred income tax liabilities -        

Pension benefits 109,650  172,775  106,950  167,825 
Property, plant and equipment 456,337  473,120  404,939  337,108 
Unrealised foreign exchange gains 36  68,471  -  68,471 
Intangible assets 7,540  10,186  -  - 
Other 6,477  67,957  6,478  67,959 

 580,040  792,509  518,367  641,363 
Net deferred tax liabilities  422,031  692,083  424,846  613,233 
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19. Deferred Income Taxes (Continued) 
 

The deferred tax credited in profit or loss and other comprehensive income comprises the following temporary 
differences: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 

$’000  

 29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Profit or loss        
Property, plant and equipment (4,857)  37,008  67,831  (4,630) 
Accrued vacation and general provisions (2,511)  (2,223)  (2,451)  (2,227) 
Post-employment benefits 16,900  7,850  16,575  7,525 
Tax losses  1,223  (7,524)  -  - 
Unrealised foreign exchange losses/gains (124,083)  40,470  (124,172)  40,549 
Intangible assets (8,283)  (34,340)  -  - 
Interest payable (6,601)  793  (6,415)  692 
Other temporary differences (61,063)  58,981  (61,480)  58,980 

 (189,275)  101,015  (110,112)  100,889 
        

Other comprehensive income        
Post-employment benefits (80,925)  119,925  (78,275)  116,650 

 
Deferred income tax liabilities have not been provided for in respect of the withholding and other taxes that would 
be payable on the undistributed earnings of certain subsidiaries to the extent that such earnings are permanently 
reinvested. Such undistributed earnings, included in the consolidated results, totalled $3,082,412,000 
(2017 - $2,020,806,000).  These undistributed earnings are in foreign subsidiaries. 
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19.  Deferred Income Taxes (Continued) 
 

These balances include the following: 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000  

29 April  
2017 
$’000 

Deferred tax assets -        

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after  
more than 12 months 65,817  5,600  6,025  5,200 

Deferred tax assets to be recovered within  
12 months 92,192  94,826  87,496  22,930 

 158,009  100,426  93,521  28,130 

Deferred tax liabilities -        

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after  
more than 12 months 573,527  645,895  511,889  504,933 

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered within  
12 months 6,513  146,614  6,478  136,430 

 580,040  792,509  518,367  641,363 

Net deferred tax liability 422,031  692,083  424,846  613,233 
 

20. Post-Employment Benefits 
 

Amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 
 

  The Group  The Company 

  
28 April 

2018  
$’000 

 29 April  
2017 
$’000 

 28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Pension scheme benefit assets  438,600  691,100  427,800  671,300 
Post-employment benefit obligations  (26,000)  (22,400)  (24,100)  (20,800) 
         
Amounts recognised in the profit or loss 

(Note 8) -         
Pension scheme benefit liabilities  80,500  106,900  79,200  106,100 
Post-employment benefit obligations  2,000  1,900  1,900  1,800 
  82,500  108,800  81,100  107,900 
         

Amounts recognised in other 
comprehensive income 

 
       

Pension scheme benefit assets  320,400  (480,500)  310,200  (467,100) 
Post-employment benefit obligations  3,300  800  2,900  500 
  323,700  (479,700)  313,100  (466,600) 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 
(a) Pension plans  

 
Defined contribution plan  
The Group participates in a defined contribution plan which is open to Jamaican based employees hired on or 
after 1 October 2017. Employees contribute 5% of pensionable earning with the option to contribute an 
additional voluntary contribution of 5%. The employer contributions are currently set at 10%. The Group also 
had other defined contribution plans open to employees of its foreign subsidiaries which are operated in those 
countries. The Group’s and company’s contributions for the year were $43,827,000 (2017 - $33,996,000) and 
$190,000 (2017 – Nil) 
 
Defined benefit plan 
The Group participates in a defined benefit scheme, which is open to all permanent employees based in 
Jamaica and administered by an external agency. The plan is funded by employee contributions of 5% 
pensionable earning with the option to contribute an additional voluntary contribution of 5%, and employer 
contributes 10%, as recommended by independent actuaries.  The plan provides benefits to members based 
on average earnings for the final two years of service or the two years in which the highest salaries of the 
employee have been earned. The defined benefit scheme is valued by independent actuaries annually using 
the Projected Unit Credit Method. The latest actuarial valuation was carried out as at 28 April 2018. The fund 
was closed to new members as at 30 September 2017. 
 
The Board of the pension fund is required by law and its articles and association to act in the interest of the 
fund and all relevant stakeholders. The Board of the fund is responsible for the investment policy with regards 
to the assets of the fund. The funds are managed by NCB Insurance Company Limited who has responsibilities 
for the general management of the portfolio of investments and the administration of the fund. 

 
The post-employment benefit asset recognised in the balance sheet was determined as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 28 April  

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000  

28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

Fair value of plan assets 5,031,300  4,269,900  4,907,000  4,147,700 
Present value of obligations (4,592,700)  (3,578,800)  (4,479,200)  (3,476,400) 
 438,600  691,100  427,800  671,300 

 
Pension plan assets include investment in ordinary stock units of the company with a fair value of 
$246,765,000 (2017 - $204,033,000). 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 
(a) Pension scheme benefits (continued) 
 

The movement in the defined benefit asset during the year was as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year 691,100  180,100  671,300  174,300 
Amounts recognised in profit or loss 

(Note 8) (80,500)  (106,900)  (79,200)  (106,100) 
Amounts recognised in other  

comprehensive income  (320,400)  480,500  (310,200)  467,100 
Contributions paid 148,400  137,400  145,900  135,400 
Transfer from subsidiary -  -  -  600 
At end of year 438,600  691,100  427,800  671,300 

 
The movement in the present value of obligations was as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year 3,578,800  3,166,000  3,476,400  3,063,700 

Transfer in fund – new employee 3,200  2,400  3,200  2,400 

Current service cost 120,100  118,700  117,500  117,500 

Interest cost 357,100  299,700  347,200  291,400 

Transfer from subsidiary -  -  -  10,600 

Curtailment (1,600)  (3,000)  (1,600)  (3,000) 

 4,057,600  3,583,800  3,942,700  3,482,600 

Remeasurement (gain)/loss on obligations:-        

Changes in financial assumptions 462,000  29,000  452,000  29,200 

Experience adjustment 29,400  (57,000)  37,200  (61,200) 

Members contribution 127,500  116,300  125,000  114,400 

Benefits paid (83,800)  (93,300)  (77,700)  (88,600) 
At end of year 4,592,700  3,578,800  4,479,200  3,476,400 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

The movement in the fair value of plan assets was as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year  4,269,900  3,346,100  4,147,700  3,238,000 

Transfer in fund – new employee 3,200  2,400  3,200  2,400 

Transfer from subsidiary -  -  -  11,200 

Members’ contribution 127,500  116,300  125,000  114,400 

Employer’s contribution 148,400  137,400  145,900  135,400 

Interest income on plan assets 414,000  308,500  402,500  299,800 

Benefits paid (83,800)  (77,000)  (77,700)  (72,500) 

Administrative expenses (18,900)  (16,300)  (18,600)  (16,100) 

Remeasurement gain on plan assets 171,000  452,500  179,000  435,100 
At end of year 5,031,300  4,269,900  4,907,000  4,147,700 

 
 
The amount recognised in profit or loss is determined as follows: 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Current service cost 120,100  102,400  117,500  101,400 
Interest cost 357,100  299,700  347,200  291,400 
Interest income on plan assets (414,000)  (308,500)  (402,500)  (299,800) 
Administrative expenses 18,900  16,300  18,600  16,100 
Curtailment (1,600)  (3,000)  (1,600)  (3,000) 
Total included in staff costs (Note 8) 80,500  106,900  79,200  106,100 

        
 

The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is determined as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 

Remeasurements of the defined benefit 
obligation 491,400  (28,000)      489,200  (32,000) 

Remeasurements of the plan assets (171,000)  (452,500)  (179,000)  (435,100) 

Total  320,400  (480,500)      310,200  (467,100) 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 
(a) Pension scheme benefits (continued) 

At the last valuation date, the present value of the defined benefit obligation was comprised, for the group 
and the company respectively, of approximately $3,860,500,000 and $3,801,700,000 relating to active 
members, $305,000,000 and $306,400,000 relating to deferred members, $415,700,000 and $362,400,000 
relating to the members in retirement and $10,100,000 and $10,100,000 relating to other liabilities. 

Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the balance sheet 
date. Expected returns on equity and property investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced 
in the respective markets. 

Expected employer contributions to the plan for the year ended 28 April 2018 amount to $33,600,000 for 
the group and $30,600,000 for the company. Effective 29 April 2018 the employer contributions will be 
reduced to 2% as recommended by independent actuaries. 
 
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: 

 
 

28 April  
2018  29 April   

2017 
Discount rate  7.5%  9.5% 
Future salary increases  5.5%  7.5% 
Future pension increases  1.75%  2.5% 

 
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is: 

 
 The Group 

 Impact on post-employment obligations 

   28 April 2018  29 April 2017 

 Change in 
assumption  Increase in 

assumption  Decrease in 
assumption 

 Increase in 
assumption  Decrease in 

assumption 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate 0.5% (2017 -1%)         (360,300)  414,900  (506,700)  659,700 

Future salary increases  0.5% (2017 -1%)         166,700  (154,000)  271,400  (230,600) 

Pension increases 0.5% (2017 -1%)         206,300  (187,300) 
 310,100  (262,300) 

 

 The Company 

 Impact on post-employment obligations 

   28 April 2018  29 April 2017 

 Change in 
assumption  Increase in 

assumption  Decrease in 
assumption 

 Increase in 
assumption  Decrease in 

assumption 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate 0.5% (2017 -1%)                   (353,400)  406,900  (495,100)  645,200 

Future salary increases 0.5% (2017 -1%)  164,400  (151,900)  266,800  (226,600) 

Pension increases 0.5% (2017 -1%)  201,100  (182,700) 
 301,200  (254,700) 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

(a) Pension scheme benefits (continued) 
 
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is: 

 
 The Group 

  28 April 2018  29 April 2017 
 Increase 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year  

Increase 
Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
Life expectancy 57,400  (54,900)  37,600  (38,800) 

        
 
 

 The Company 
 28 April 2018  29 April 2017 
 Increase 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year  

Increase 
Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
Life expectancy 55,700  (53,400)  36,400  (37,500) 

 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the 
same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the projected unit credit method 
at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognised 
within the statement of financial position. 
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20.  Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

(b) Post-employment medical benefits 
 

In addition to pension benefits, the Group offers qualifying retirees medical and life insurance benefits. Funds 
are not built up to cover the obligations under these retirement benefit schemes. The method of accounting 
and frequency of valuations are similar to those used for the defined benefit pension scheme. In addition to 
the assumptions used for the pension scheme, the main actuarial assumption is a long term increase in health 
costs of 6.5% per year (2017 – 8.5% per year). 
 
The liability recognised in the balance sheet was determined as follows: 

 
         The Group       The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Present value of funded obligations 26,000           22,400  24,100  20,800 

 
The movement in the liability during the 

year was as follows:       The Group      The Company 

 28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year  22,400  21,900  20,800  20,500 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
(Note 8) 2,000  1,900  1,900  1,800 

Amounts recognised in other 
comprehensive income  3,300  800  2,900  500 

Contributions paid (1,700)  (2,200)  (1,500)  (2,000) 
At end of year 26,000  22,400  24,100  20,800 
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20. Post-employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

(b) Post-employment medical benefits (continued) 
 

The movement in the present value of obligations was as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year 22,400  21,900  20,800  20,500 
Interest cost 2,000  1,900  1,900  1,800 
Benefits paid (1,700)  (2,200)  (1,500)  (2,000) 

Remeasurement loss/(gain) on 
obligation:-        

Changes in financial assumptions               500              700               500            700 

Experience adjustment            2,800               100           2,400  (200) 
At end of year 26,000  22,400  24,100  20,800 

 
The amount recognised in profit or loss is as follows: 

 
      The Group           The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Interest cost 2,000  1,900  1,900  1,800 

Total included in staff costs (Note 8) 2,000 
 

1,900  1,900  1,800 
 

The amount recognised in other comprehensive income is determined as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April 
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 

Remeasurements of the defined benefit 
obligation 3,300  800  2,900  500 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

(b) Post-employment medical benefits (continued) 

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is: 
 

 The Group 

 Impact on post-employment obligations 

   28 April 2018  29 April 2017 

 Change in 
assumption  Increase in 

assumption  Decrease in 
assumption 

 Increase in 
assumption  Decrease in 

assumption 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate 0.5% (2017 -1%)  (1,000)  1,000  (1,700)            1,900 

Medical cost 0.5% (2017 -1%)  (3,500)  (5,300)  (1,300)           (4,500) 
 

 The Company 

 Impact on post-employment obligations 

   28 April 2018  29 April 2017 

 Change in 
assumption  Increase in 

assumption  Decrease in 
assumption 

 Increase in 
assumption  Decrease in 

assumption 

   $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 

Discount rate 0.5% (2017 -1%)               (900)  1,000  (1,600)            1,800 

Medical cost 0.5% (2017 -1%)           (3,400)  (5,100)  (1,300)           (4,300) 
 
 

 The Group 
  28 April 2018  29 April 2017 

 Increase 
Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year  

Increase 
Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
Life expectancy 1,100  (1,100)  (2,100)  (3,900) 

 
 The Company 

  28 April 2018  29 April 2017 
 Increase 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year  

Increase 
Assumption 
by One Year 

 
Decrease 

Assumption 
by One Year 

 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000 
Life expectancy 1,000  (900)  (2,100)  (3,700) 
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20.  Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 
(c) Distribution of pension plan assets -  
 

 The Group 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
28 April  

2018  
%   

29 April 
2017  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

% 
Equities - quoted 2,179,100  44  1,783,487  42 
Equities - unquoted 312,800  6  128,913  3 
Property 408,700  8  304,300  7 
Government securities and reverse  

repurchase agreements 1,459,900  29  1,377,100  32 
Corporate bonds 398,800  8  482,900  11 
Leased assets 109,000  2  68,100  2 
Other 163,000  3  125,100  3 

 5,031,300  100  4,269,900  100 
 

 The Company 
 28 April 

2018 
$’000 

 
28 April  

2018  
%   

29 April 
2017  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

% 
Equities - quoted 2,125,265  44  1,772,271  42 
Equities - unquoted 305,072  6  85,398  3 
Property 398,603  8  295,591  7 
Government securities and reverse  

repurchase agreements 1,423,833  29  1,337,689  32 
Corporate bonds 388,948  8  469,080  11 
Leased assets 106,307  2  66,151  2 
Other 158,972  3  121,520  3 

 4,907,000  100  4,147,700  100 
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20. Post-Employment Benefits (Continued) 
 

(d) Other pension plan disclosures - 

Risks associated with pension plans and post-employment plans 
 
Through its defined benefit pension plans and post-employment medical plans, the Company is exposed to 
a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below: 
 
Asset volatility 
 
The plan liabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to Government of Jamaica bond 
yields; if plan assets underperform this yield, this will create a deficit.  
 
As the plan matures, the Company intends to reduce the level of investment risk by investing more in assets 
that better match the liabilities. The Government bonds represent investments in Government of Jamaica 
securities.  
 
The Company believes that due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, a level of continuing equity 
investment is an appropriate element of the Company’s long term strategy to manage the plans efficiently. 
See below for more details on the Company’s asset-liability matching strategy. 
 
Changes in bond yields 
 
A decrease in Government of Jamaica bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be partially 
offset by an increase in the value of the plans’ bond holdings. 
 
Inflation risk 
 
Higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities. The majority of the plan’s assets are either unaffected by fixed 
interest bonds, meaning that an increase in inflation will reduce the surplus or create a deficit. 
 
Life expectancy 
 
The majority of the plan’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in life 
expectancy will result in an increase in the plan’s liabilities. This is particularly significant, where inflationary 
increases result in higher sensitivity to changes in life expectancy. 
 
The Company ensures that the investment positions are managed within an asset-liability matching (ALM) 
framework that has been developed to achieve long-term investments that are in line with the obligations 
under the pension scheme. Within this framework, the company’s ALM objective is to match assets to the 
pension obligations by investing in long-term fixed interest securities with maturities that match the benefit 
payments as they fall due. The Company actively monitors how the duration and the expected yield of the 
investments are matching the expected cash outflows arising from the pension obligations. The Company 
has not changed the processes used to manage its risks from previous periods. The Company does not 
use derivatives to manage its risk. Investments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single 
investment would not have a material impact on the overall level of assets. A large portion of assets in 2018 
consists of bonds and equities.  
 
Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis and the agreed employer contribution rate was 10% of 
pensionable salaries up to 28 April, 2018. The next triennial valuation is due to be completed as at 30 April 
2020.   
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21. Inventories 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April   
2017  

$’000 
Grain and feed ingredients 1,827,750  1,209,604  1,664,793  1,022,329 
Inventories for resale and spares 2,748,708  3,166,595  2,659,248  3,033,512 
Goods in transit and others 1,286,310  879,196  370,957  380,506 

 5,862,768  5,255,395  4,694,998  4,436,347 
Less: Provision for obsolescence (79,265)  (91,106)  (66,548)  (78,569) 

 5,783,503  5,164,289  4,628,450  4,357,778 
 

Inventory write-downs for the current year amounted to $371,817,000 (2017 – $143,584,000). 
 

22. Biological Assets 
 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Cattle 46,555  38,956  -  - 

Poultry 5,397,149  4,418,416  654,718  668,145 

 5,443,704  4,457,372  654,718  668,145 
 

Biological assets comprise of: 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Biological assets at fair value 523,933  568,175  477,377  529,219 

Biological assets at cost 4,919,771  3,889,197  177,341  138,926 
 5,443,704  4,457,372  654,718  668,145 
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22.  Biological Assets (Continued) 
 
 The movement in biological assets at fair value was determined as follows: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
At start of year 568,175  482,686  529,219  443,958 

Fair value gain 11,719  2,665  -  - 

Increase due to purchases and transfers 7,586,682  7,921,991  7,586,482  7,921,991 

Decrease due to sales  (7,642,643)  (7,839,167)  (7,638,324)  (7,836,730) 

At end of year 523,933  568,175  477,377  529,219 
 
The movement in biological assets at cost was determined as follows: 
 

 The Group  The Company  

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April   
2017  
$’000 

At start of year 3,889,197  2,469,558  138,926  186,165 
Increase due to purchases and acquisition 9,254,636  7,601,739  2,615,164  2,530,111 

Decrease due to sales and depreciation (8,100,011)  (6,273,174)  (2,576,749)  (2,577,350) 
Translation (124,051)  91,074  -  - 
At end of year 4,919,771  3,889,197  177,341  138,926 

 
Fair value of livestock is determined as the best available estimate for livestock with similar attributes.  Any gains 
or losses arising on initial recognition of livestock at fair value less estimated point of sale costs and from a change 
in fair value less estimated point of sale costs is included in other income in the period in which it arises. 

 
The physical quantities at the end of the year and output for each group of biological assets are as follows: 

 
(i) Cattle 

The number of cattle at the end of the year was 571 (2017 – 545). 
 
The number of cattle harvested during the year was 245 (2017 – 183). 

 
(ii) Poultry  

The number of birds in the field, including broilers, breeders, and layer pullets at year end was 7,000,000  
(2017 – 7,525,000) and the number of eggs at year end was 6,134,000 (2017 – 5,413,000). 
 
The total number of birds produced during the year was 51,686,000 (2017 – 53,233,000). 
 
The total number of eggs produced during the year was 27,706,000 (2017 – 23,083,000) dozens. 
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23. Receivables 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Trade receivables 3,046,178  2,732,980  1,913,877  1,689,743 
Less: Provision for impairment  (304,012)  (293,343)  (259,786)  (257,181) 

 2,742,166  2,439,637  1,654,091  1,432,562 
Contract farmers’ receivables 313,749  271,726  313,749  271,726 
Deposits 16,028  22,777  752,668  3,088 
G.C.T recoverable 28,060  39,087  27,285  38,643 
Jamaica Broilers Trust (Note 32) 51,613  85,568  51,613  85,568 
Prepayments 383,198  453,375  226,863  319,636 
Staff receivables 192,174  42,354  185,348  36,665 
Other  218,451  214,449  144,952  102,965 

 3,945,439  3,568,973  3,356,569  2,290,853 
Less: Provision for impairment (318)  (318)  (318)  (318) 

 3,945,121  3,568,655  3,356,251  2,290,535 
 

24. Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss 
 

This represents amount invested in investment funds that have been designated at fair value on initial recognition. 
 
Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are included in other (losses)/gains 
(Note 6). 
 

25. Cash and Short Term Investments 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
28 April 

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

28 April   
2017  

$’000 
Cash at bank and in hand 1,238,509  1,668,167  803,541  791,113 
Short term investments 1,874,569  335,180  1,861,860  335,180 
   3,113,078  2,003,347  2,665,401  1,126,293 
Interest receivable 2,922  1,218  2,922  1,218 
 3,116,000  2,004,565  2,668,323  1,127,511 
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25. Cash and Short Term Investments (Continued) 
 

The weighted average effective interest rate on Jamaica dollar and US dollar short term deposits was  
2% (2017 – 4%) and 0.5% (2017 – 0.5%) respectively. These represent call deposits which are repayable on 
demand. 
  
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April 

2017 
$’000                                

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April 
2018 
$’000                               

Cash and short term investments  3,116,000  2,004,565  2,668,323  1,127,511 

Short term borrowings and bank overdraft  (190,375)  (408,182)  (177,266)  (181,196) 

 2,925,625  1,596,383  2,491,057  946,315 
 
 
26. Payables 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
28 April 

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

28 April 
2017  

$’000 
Trade payables 3,631,010  3,191,089  2,371,956  1,943,134 

Accrued charges 851,250  759,053  719,894  634,602 

Contractors retention payable 18,218  18,161  691  555 

GCT payable 500  11  -  - 

Payroll taxes payable 78,749  46,659  70,502  46,659 

Staff related payables 64,311  56,557  15,059  15,632 

Unclaimed cheques 61,428  61,013  61,428  61,013 

Other 313,807  281,599  257,683  239,776 

 5,019,273  4,414,142  3,497,213  2,941,371 
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27. Dividends  
 

  
The Group and The 

Company 

  

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
First interim –  17 cents per stock unit ( 2017 – 17 cents)  203,877  203,877 

Second interim – 17 cents per stock unit (2017 – 18 cents)  203,877  215,869 
    407,754  419,746 

 
28. Borrowings 

 
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Non-Current -        

  Borrowings 4,658,531  5,200,463  3,572,329  4,250,869 

Current -        

Short term borrowings and bank overdraft 
(Note 23) 

4,862,309  1,906,035  3,546,874  931,203 

Current portion of non-current borrowings  434,642  554,116  400,563  409,688 

Interest payable 67,948  41,461  65,219  39,561 

 5,364,899  2,501,612  4,012,656  1,380,452 

   10,023,430  7,702,075  7,584,985  5,631,321 
 

Interest rates on these loans range between 5% to 9% on Jamaican currency loans and 4% to 7% on United States 
currency loans throughout the Group. 
 
Negative pledges have been issued in respect of loans, guarantees and other banking facilities extended by the 
various financial institutions.  
 
At year end the group has no undrawn financing facilities. 
 
The loans for the company are unsecured, while loans in the overseas subsidiaries are secured by certain fixed 
assets and business assets. 
 
During the year the company refinanced its long term loan facilities by the bank repaying the bond holders on 
behalf of the company in the amount of $2,432,250,000 and consolidating the remaining loan facilities. The 
repayment terms for the new facility was extended by 2 years and interest rates were reduced by a range of 80 
to 140 basis points. 
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28. Borrowings (Continued) 
  
Reconciliation of movement of liabilities to cash flows arising from financial activities: 
 
Amounts represent bank loans, excluding bank overdrafts 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Opening 
 

   7,293,893     6,753,495       5,450,125  5,723,782 

Loans received 
Loans 

3,612,504  1,674,847      2,666,300  250,000 

Loans repaid 
Fore 

  (1,126,210)  (1,174,596)        (807,364)  (531,388) 

Foreign exchange adjustments       (75,726)  32,551          (28,950)  - 

Net movement in deferred fees 102,107  10,768  101,850  10,498 

Net interest movements 26,487  (3,172)  25,658  (2,767) 

   9,833,055  7,293,893  7,407,619  5,450,125 
 
 

29. Other Long Term Liabilities 
 

On 1 February 2018 the Board of Directors approved the formation of JBGL Stockholders Nominees Limited 
("the Trust") for the purpose of buying Jamaica Broilers Group Limited shares from major shareholders.  The 
Trust will hold these shares purchased, and all benefits derived will be for the benefit of all shareholders of the 
Company in proportion to their shareholding in Jamaica Broilers Group Limited. The company will lend the Trust 
the amount to purchase the shares at an interest rate of 1% per annum. The Trust will repay the loan through 
the sale of the shares purchased on the open market as well as any dividends received.  

 
Between 30 March 2018 and 26 April 2018, agreements were signed with two sets of shareholders (and the 
trustees and entities connected to them) and the Trust for the Trust to purchase 165,452,446 shares at an 
average cost of $18.19. At year end the amounts owing to the sellers was $2,260,651,000. The amounts are 
payable by December 2019. 

 
 

     The Group  

     
28 April  

2018  
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

        

Current     1,540,268  - 

Non-current     720,383  - 

     2,260,651  - 
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30. Share Capital 
 

 Group 

 
28 April  

2018 

 29 April  
2017 

 28 April  
2018 

 29 April  
2017 

 Units ’000  Units ’000  $’000  $’000 
Authorised-        

Ordinary shares 1,209,324  1,209,324  -  - 
        
Issued and fully paid         

Ordinary units 1,199,277  1,199,277  765,137  765,137 
Shares held by Trust (165,452)  -  -  - 

 1,033,825  1,199,277  765,137  765,137 
        

 
 

 Company 

 
28 April  

2018 

 29 April  
2017 

 28 April  
2018 

 29 April  
2017 

 Units ’000  Units ’000  $’000  $’000 
Authorised-        

Ordinary shares 1,209,324  1,209,324  -  - 
        
Issued and fully paid         

Ordinary units 1,199,277  1,199,277  765,137  765,137 
 
 
The stock units in 2018 and 2017 are stated in these financial statements without a nominal or par value. 
 
During the year the Group through the JBGL Stockholders Nominee Limited agreed to purchase 165,452,446 
units of its own shares at a fair value of $3,010,231,000.  
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31. Reserves 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
(a) Capital Reserve 

 
       

At start of year -        

Realised capital gains  24,500  24,500  3,227  3,227 

Unrealised surplus on revaluations 321,807  378,052  228,944  139,198 

Fair value loss on available-for-sale securities -  -  (538)  (538) 

Translation loss on subsidiary assumed -  -  (8,686)  (8,686) 

Gains on translation of financial  
statements of foreign subsidiaries 824,155  1,659,606  -  - 

 1,170,462  2,062,158  222,947  133,201 

Movements during the year -        

Translation gain (120,034)  (835,451)  -  - 

Transfer from retained earnings -  -  -  - 

Realised reserves -  (56,245)  -  - 

Amalgamation (Note 34) -  -  -  89,746 

At end of year 1,050,428  1,170,462  222,947  222,947 

Consisting of -        

Realised capital gains  24,500  24,500  3,227  3,227 

Unrealised surplus on revaluations 321,807  321,807  228,944  228,944 

Fair value loss on available-for-sale  
securities  -  -  (538)  (538) 

Translation loss on subsidiary assumed -  -  (8,686)  (8,686) 

Gains on translation of financial  
statements of foreign subsidiaries 704,121  824,155  -  - 

 1,050,428  1,170,462  222,947  222,947 

        

(b) Legal Reserve 233  233  -  - 

 1,050,661  1,170,695  222,947  222,947 
 

The legal reserve represents required reserve for one of the overseas subsidiaries.  
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32. Related Party Transactions and Balances 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or exercise significant influence over 
the other party in making financial or operational decisions.   
 
Related parties include fellow subsidiaries, directors and key management.   
 
Subsidiaries buy and sell inventory to other entities within the Group.   
 
Key management includes directors (executives and non-executives) and members of the senior management 
team. 
 

(i) The following transactions were carried out between the company and its related parties: 
 

     
28 April  

2018  
$’000 

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

Sale of goods     648,186  675,448 

Purchases of goods     3,558,870  3,459,350 

Purchase of services     225,587  207,707 

Interest income earned     139,512  146,589 

Management fees earned     153,786  230,126 

Insurance premiums expense     569,783  477,541 

Dividend received     -  406,177 

Other expenses     11,555  11,504 
 

(ii) Key management compensation 
 

 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
With directors and key management -        

Salaries, profit sharing and other short-term  
employee benefits 589,822  420,905 

 

449,201  325,665 
Payroll taxes - Employer’s portion 43,090  28,523  37,297  25,742 
Pension benefits 17,245  16,188  13,967  13,490 
Professional fees paid 6,239  6,367  6,239  6,367 
 656,396  471,983  506,704  371,264 
Directors’ emoluments -        

Fees 27,150  32,153  27,150  32,153 
Management remuneration (included above) 419,334  275,449  309,479  202,924 
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32. Related Party Transactions and Balances (Continued) 
 

(iii) Year end balances with related parties:  
 The Group  The Company 

 

28 April 
2018 
$’000                               

 
29 April  

2017  
$’000   

28 April  
2018  

$’000 
 

29 April  
2017  

$’000 
Directors and key management -         

Receivables 4,163  18,937  4,123  9,962 

Receivable from subsidiaries -         

Trade and other receivables -  -  2,366,657  2,093,502 

Current portion of loans receivable -  -  848,135  278,913 

 -  -  3,214,792  2,372,415 
        
Payable to subsidiaries -  -  38,842  36,402 

Other long term liabilities (Note 29) 2,260,651  -  -  - 

                     Loan to Jamaica Broilers Trust(a) 51,613  85,568  51,613  85,568 
        
Loans receivable:        

Loan to Haiti Broilers S.A.(b) -  - 
 

-  645,125 
Loan to International Poultry Breeder Inc. long 

term portion of loans receivable (c) -  - 
 

897,408  1,022,260 
Loan to International Poultry Breeder 

Hatcheries Inc. long term portion of loans 
receivable (d) 

-  - 
 

741,608  989,910 

 -  -  1,639,016  2,657,295 

(a) Loan receivable from Jamaica Broilers Trust is payable by December 2018 and interest is payable at 
WATBY plus 2% per annum. The loan is secured with stock units in Jamaica Broilers Group Limited.  

(b) The balance represents the outstanding amounts on a loan of HTG344,000,000. The loan is interest free 
and matures in 2019. 

(c) The balance represents the outstanding amounts on a loan of US$10,750,000 at a rate of US Prime + 3% 
and matures 2023.  Principal is repaid annually in the amount of US$700,000. Included in receivable from 
subsidiaries is the current portion of the loan in the amount of $87,248,000 (2017 - $90,580,000) and 
interest receivable of $5,906,000 (2017 - $38,262,000). 

(d) The balance represents the outstanding amounts on a loan of US$8,500,000 at a rate of US Prime + 
2.75% and matures 2026.  Principal is repaid annually in the amount of US$850,000. Included in 
receivable from subsidiaries is the current portion of the loan in the amount of $105,944,000 
(2017 - $109,990,000) and interest receivable of $4,955,000 (2017 - $40,081,000). 

  

144
Jamaica Broilers Group 

Annual Report 2018



Page 81 

Jamaica Broilers Group Limited 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
28 April 2018 
(expressed in Jamaican dollars unless otherwise indicated) 

 

33. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Market price is used to determine fair value where an active market 
(such as a recognised stock exchange) exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument. 
However, market prices are not available for a significant number of the financial assets and liabilities held and 
issued by the Group. Therefore, for financial instruments where no market price is available, the fair values 
presented have been estimated using present value or other estimation and valuation techniques based on market 
conditions existing at balance sheet dates. 

 
The values derived from applying these techniques are significantly affected by the underlying assumptions used 
concerning both the amounts and timing of future cash flows and the discount rates. The following methods and 
assumptions have been used: 
 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value by reference to quoted prices 
when available.  If quoted market prices are not available, then fair values are estimated on the basis of pricing 
models, or discounted cash flows.  Fair value is equal to the carrying amount of these items; 

 
(ii) Investment securities classified as available-for-sale are measured at cost.  Fair value cannot be reliably 

determined as no active market for these securities exist as they relate to investment in private entities. 
 

(iii) The fair value of long term receivables, borrowings and other long term liabilities approximates carrying value 
as the contractual cash flows are at current market interest rates that are available to the Group for similar 
financial instruments; and 

 
(iv) The amounts included in the financial statements for receivables, cash and short term investments, payables 

short term borrowings and bank overdraft reflect their fair values due to the short term maturity of these 
instruments. 

 
Financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based 
on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 

 
(i) Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities; 
 

(ii) Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices); and 

 
(iii) Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the 

asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
 
Financial assets measured at fair value are all categorised as level 2 and comprise financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss amounting to $1,018,902,000 (2017 - $760,696,000) for the Group. These investments 
represent units in investment funds which are stated at unit prices determined by the fund manager and corporate 
bonds. 
There were no transfers between levels in the year. 
 
Biological assets which are measured at fair value totalling $523,933,000 (2017 – $568,175,000) and 
$477,377,000 (2017 - $529,219,000) for the Group and the Company respectively are included in Level 2. 
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34. Amalgamation 
 
In the previous year, the operation of two of the company’s subsidiaries’, Master Blend Feeds Limited and 
Content Agricultural Products Limited, were amalgamated within the company. The assets and liabilities of these 
operations are as follows: 

  $’000 $’000 $’000 
Property, plant and equipment    54,105 
Intercompany balances    13,544 
Payables    (631) 
Deferred tax liabilities    (5,462) 
Taxation payable    838 
    62,394 
     
Share capital    2,080 
Reserves    89,746 
Opening retained earnings    (34,120) 
Net income for the year    4,688 
    62,394 

 
35. Discontinued Operations 

 
In the previous year, the Group disposed of its wholly owned subsidiary ERI Services (St. Lucia) Limited and its 
wholly owned subsidiary JB Terminal (Port Esquivel) Limited for a cash consideration of US$4 million. As part of 
the deal the acquirer also assumed liabilities of US$18.5 million due to Jamaica Broilers Group Limited.  
 
The financial performance and cash flow information presented are for the year ended 29 April 2017. 
 

       
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

Revenue       187 
Cost of sales       (43,275) 
Gross loss       (43,088) 
Other income       - 
Administration and other expenses       (7,388) 
Operating loss       (50,476) 
Finance cost       14,946 
Loss before taxation       (35,530) 
Taxation       - 
Net loss after tax of discontinued operations       (35,530) 
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries       39,474 
Profit/(loss) for the period from discontinued operations       3,944 
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35. Discontinued Operations (Continued) 
 

       
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

Operating cash flows       (1,740) 
Net cash       (1,740) 
 
Details of the sale of the subsidiaries 

       
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

Consideration received or receivable:        
Cash       505,520 
Loan receivable        2,338,030 

Total disposal consideration       2,843,550 
Carrying amount of net assets sold       (3,716,553) 
Cost of disposal       (43,647) 
Loss on sale before reclassification of foreign currency reserves       (916,650) 
Reclassification of foreign currency translation reserve       956,124 
Gain on sale       39,474 
 

       
29 April  

2017  
$’000 

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of the 
sale were:        

Property, plant and equipment       3,576,341 
Receivables       8,835 
Inventories       132,323 
Total assets       3,717,499 
Payables       (946) 
Net assets       3,716,553 
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